ACTA UNIVERSITATIS AGRICULTURAE SUECIAE

VETERINARIA 129



Clostridium difficile in Horses

Viveca Båverud

Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences



Clostridium difficile in horses

Viveca Båverud

Akademisk avhandling som för vinnande av veterinärmedicinsk doktorsexamen kommer att offentligen försvaras i Ettans föreläsningssal, Klinikcentrum, Ultuna, fredagen den 14 juni, 2002, kl. 09.15.

Av fakultetsnämnden utsedd opponent: Professor Jacques Nicolet, Institute for Veterinary Bacteriology, University of Berne, Switzerland.

Abstract

In recent years, several animal hospitals in Sweden have reported an increased frequency of acute and often fatal colitis in mature horses. The most common risk group was horses hospitalized and treated for various non-gastrointestinal diseases. After a few days of hospitalization some horses developed acute diarrhea. Another risk group was mares when their foals were treated orally with erythromycin in combination with rifampicin for *Rhodococcus equi* pneumonia. Some mares developed diarrhea suddenly often after 3-4 days treatment of the foals at an animal hospital.

In human medicine, the bacterium *Clostridium difficile* is since many years a wellknown nosocomial pathogen in antibiotic associated diarrhea. This thesis, based on five scientific publications, describes the association of *C. difficile* colonisation with the occurrence of diarrhea, antibiotic treatment and the age of the horses. The occurrence and survival of the bacterium in the environment and its antimicrobial susceptibility were also studied. Furthermore, the role of the antibiotic erythromycin in induction of acute colitis in horses was investigated.

C. difficile is associated with acute colitis in mature horses following treatment with antibiotics, as about 40% of the horses proved positive by culture and 28% in the cytotoxin B test of faeces. No other pathogen was detected in horses affected by antibiotic-associated diarrhea.

C. difficile, and/or its cytotoxin, is also associated with acute colitis in mares when their foals are being treated with erythromycin and rifampicin for R. equi pneumonia. The colitis can have resulted from an accidental ingestion of erythromycin by the mares. In an experimental study it was also demonstrated in horses that erythromycin can induce severe colitis associated with proliferation of C. difficile.

A new interesting finding was that in healthy foals younger than 14 days, *C. difficile* was isolated from every third foal whereas all older foals except one proved negative. Many asymptomatic carriers were also found among non-diarrheic foals treated with antibiotics.

Antimicrobial susceptibility testing showed that isolates were susceptible to metronidazole (MIC $\leq 4 \mu g/ml$) and vancomycin (MIC $\leq 1 \mu g/ml$). The MICs of erythromycin, oxytetracycline, spiramycin and virginiamycin showed a biphasic distribution. All isolates, except three, had uniformly high or low MICs of these antimicrobial agents.

In conclusion, the work described in this thesis is a contribution to increased knowledge of *C. difficile* as an etiological factor in antibiotic-associated diarrhea in horses. Preventive measures to avoid accidental ingestion of erythromycin by mares from the treatment of their foals are recommended. Keywords: antibiotic-associated, environment, foal, horse, PCR, soil, stable, toxin

Distribution: Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Department of Veterinary Microbiology SE-750 07 Uppsala, Sweden

Uppsala 2002 ISSN: 1401-6257 ISBN: 91-576-6378-5

Clostridium difficile in Horses

Viveca Båverud

Department of Bacteriology, National Veterinary Institute Uppsala and Department of Veterinary Microbiology Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Uppsala

Doctoral thesis Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Uppsala 2002

Acta Universitatis Agriculturae Sueciae Veterinaria 129

ISSN 1401-6257 ISBN 91-576-6378-5 © 2002 Viveca Båverud, Uppsala Tryck: SLU Service/Repro, Uppsala 2002

EN VÄNLIG GRÖNSKAS RIKA DRÄKT

En vänlig grönskas rika dräkt har smyckat dal och ängar. Nu smeker vindens ljumma fläkt de fagra örtesängar, och solens ljus och lundens sus och vågens sorl bland viden förkunna sommartiden.

CD af Wirsén 1889

To Håkan, Hedda, Lisen and Herman

2

Abstract

Båverud, V. 2002. *Clostridium difficile* in horses. Doctoral dissertation. ISSN: 1401-6257, ISBN: 91-576-6378-5

In recent years, several animal hospitals in Sweden have reported an increased frequency of acute and often fatal colitis in mature horses. The most common risk group was horses hospitalized and treated for various non-gastrointestinal diseases. After a few days of hospitalization some horses developed acute diarrhea. Another risk group was mares when their foals were treated orally with erythromycin in combination with rifampicin for *Rhodococcus equi* pneumonia. Some mares developed diarrhea suddenly often after 3-4 days treatment of the foals at an animal hospital.

In human medicine, the bacterium *Clostridium difficile* is since many years a wellknown nosocomial pathogen in antibiotic associated diarrhea. This thesis, based on five scientific publications, describes the association of *C. difficile* colonisation with the occurrence of diarrhea, antibiotic treatment and the age of the horses. The occurrence and survival of the bacterium in the environment and its antimicrobial susceptibility were also studied. Furthermore, the role of the antibiotic erythromycin in induction of acute colitis in horses was investigated.

C. difficile is associated with acute colitis in mature horses following treatment with antibiotics, as about 40% of the horses proved positive by culture and 28% in the cytotoxin B test of faeces. No other pathogen was detected in horses affected by antibiotic-associated diarrhea.

C. difficile, and/or its cytotoxin, is also associated with acute colitis in mares when their foals are being treated with erythromycin and rifampicin for R. equi pneumonia. The colitis can have resulted from an accidental ingestion of erythromycin by the mares. In an experimental study it was also demonstrated in horses that erythromycin can induce severe colitis associated with proliferation of C. difficile.

A new interesting finding was that in healthy foals younger than 14 days, *C. difficile* was isolated from every third foal whereas all older foals except one proved negative. Many asymptomatic carriers were also found among non-diarrheic foals treated with antibiotics.

Antimicrobial susceptibility testing showed that isolates were susceptible to metronidazole (MIC $\leq 4 \mu g/ml$) and vancomycin (MIC $\leq 1 \mu g/ml$). The MICs of erythromycin, oxytetracycline, spiramycin and virginiamycin showed a biphasic distribution. All isolates, except three, had uniformly high or low MICs of these antimicrobial agents.

In conclusion, the work described in this thesis is a contribution to increased knowledge of *C. difficile* as an etiological factor in antibiotic-associated diarrhea in horses. Preventive measures to avoid accidental ingestion of erythromycin by mares from the treatment of their foals are recommended.

Keywords: antibiotic-associated, environment, foal, horse, PCR, soil, stable, toxin

Author's address: Viveca Båverud, National Veterinary Institute (SVA), Department of Bacteriology, SE-751 89 UPPSALA, Sweden.

Sammanfattning

Under de senaste åren har man på flera kliniker i Sverige upplevt ett ökande problem med vuxna hästar som drabbats av mycket akuta, ibland dödliga diarréer. Den vanligaste riskgruppen består av vuxna hästar, som inkommer till ett djursjukhus för andra sjukdomstillstånd än diarré. Efter några dagars vistelse på kliniken och oftast i samband med antibiotikabehandling drabbas vissa hästar av en allvarlig akut diarré. En annan riskgrupp består av tidigare helt friska moderston, vars föl behandlas per oralt (i munnen) med erytromycin i kombination med rifampicin för *Rhodococcus equi* infektion. Vissa moderston utvecklar en akut och ibland dödlig diarré ofta efter 3-4 dagars behandling av fölen vid djursjukhusvistelse.

Hos människa är bakterien *Clostridium difficile* sedan många år en välkänd patogen vid antibiotika-associerade diarréer i samband med sjukhusvistelse. När denna studie initierades fanns *C. difficile* endast beskrivet hos föl med diarré och ännu inte som någon patogen hos vuxna hästar. I den här avhandlingen, som bygger på fem vetenskapliga publikationer, beskrivs sambandet mellan *C. difficile* kolonisation med förekomst av diarré, antibiotikabehandling och ålder hos häst. Förekomst och överlevnad av bakterien i miljön och dess antibiotikakänslighet studerades också. Vidare undersöktes också om behandling med erytromycin kan orsaka akut diarré hos häst.

Undersökningarna visar att *C. difficile* är associerad med akut diarré hos vuxna hästar behandlade med antibiotika, då ca 40% av hästarna var positiva i odling och 28% positiva i cytotoxin B test av faeces. Däremot påvisades *C. difficile* ej i faeces från vuxna friska hästar. Andra sjukdomsframkallande tarmbakterier påvisades inte hos hästar med antibiotika-associerad diarré.

C. difficile och/eller dess toxin påvisades också i faeces hos 45% av undersökta moderston med akut diarré när deras föl behandlades med erytromycin och rifampicin för *R. equi* pneumoni. Höga koncentrationer av erytromycin påvisades i faeces hos föl vars moderston utvecklade akut diarré, medan stona till föl med lägre koncentrationer i faeces förblev friska. Diarréen hos moderstona beror sannolikt på ett oavsiktligt upptag av erytromycin från fölens avföring och/eller dess behandling. I en experimentell studie verifierades att mycket små mängder erytromycin kan ge upphov till allvarlig diarré hos häst och framväxt av *C. difficile.*

Ett intressant fynd var att från friska föl yngre än 14 dagar isolerades *C. difficile* från faecesprov från vart tredje föl. Alla äldre föl, utom ett, var negativa. En hög frekvens av asymtomatiska bärare hittades också hos antibiotika-behandlade föl utan diarré. I en experimentell studie visade sig bakterien överleva i naturen och inomhus i minst 4 år i hästfaeces.

Antibiotikabestämning visade att *C. difficile* isolat var känsliga för metronidazol (MIC $\leq 4 \mu g/ml$) och vancomycin (MIC $\leq 1 \mu g/ml$). MIC-värdena för erytromycin, oxytetracyclin, spiramycin och virginiamycin visade en bifasisk distribution. Alla isolatat, utom tre, hade antingen höga eller låga MIC-värden för dessa antibiotika.

Rutinundersökning av *C. difficile* och dess cytotoxin rekommenderas då akut diarré uppträder hos vuxna hästar i samband med antibiotikabehandling och vidare hos moderston, som utvecklar akut diarré när deras föl behandlas med erytromycin och rifampicin. Man bör noggrant undvika oavsiktligt upptag av erytromycin hos moderstona vid behandling av deras föl.

Sammanfattningsvis har denna avhandling resulterat i ökade kunskaper om C. difficile som en etiologisk faktor vid antibiotika-associerad diarré hos häst.

Contents

Abbreviations	10
Introduction	11
Historical background	11
Taxonomy	11
Pathogenesis	17
Epidemiology	18
Laboratory diagnosis	20
Clostridium difficile in horses	25
Clostridium difficile in humans	27
Clostridium difficile in animals other than horses	27
Acute colitis of other bacteriological etiology than Clostridium difficile	29
Antimicrobial susceptibility	30
Aims of the present investigations	31
Comments on Materials and Methods applied	32
Results and Discussion	38
Clostridium difficile in mature horses (I, IV)	38
<i>Clostridium difficile</i> associated with acute colitis in mares when their foals are treated with erythromycin and rifampicin for <i>Rhodococcus equi</i> pneumonia (II)	39
Association of erythromycin with acute colitis (III)	40
Clostridium difficile in foals (IV)	41
Occurrence and survival of Clostridium difficile in the environment (IV))41
Antimicrobial susceptibility of Clostridium difficile (IV, V)	42
General summary	45
Suggestions for future studies	47
References	48
Acknowledgements	59

Appendix

Papers I-V

The present thesis is based on the following papers, which will be referred to by their Roman numerals I-V:

- I. Båverud, V., Gustafsson, A., Franklin, A., Lindholm, A. and Gunnarsson, A. 1997. *Clostridium difficile* associated with acute colitis in adult horses treated with antibiotics. *Equine Veterinary Journal 29*, 279-284.
- II. Båverud, V., Franklin, A., Gunnarsson, A., Gustafsson, A., and Hellander-Edman, A. 1998. *Clostridium difficile* associated with acute colitis in mares when their foals are treated with erythromycin and rifampicin for Rhodococcus equi pneumonia. *Equine Veterinary Journal 30*, 482-488.
- III. Gustafsson, A., Båverud, V., Gunnarsson, A., Horn af Rantzien, M., Lindholm, A. and Franklin, A. 1997. The association of erythromycin ethylsuccinate with acute colitis in horses in Sweden. *Equine Veterinary Journal 29*, 314-318.
- IV. Båverud, V., Gustafsson, A., Franklin, A., Aspán, A. and Gunnarsson, A. *Clostridium difficile*: prevalence in horses, in environment and antimicrobial susceptibility. *Equine Veterinary Journal*, in press.
- V. Båverud, V., Gunnarsson, A., Karlsson, M. and Franklin, A. Antimicrobial susceptibility of equine and environmental isolates of *Clostridium difficile*, manuscript.

Offprints are published with kind permission of the publisher.

Abbreviations

AP-PCR	arbitrarily primed PCR		
ATCC	American Type Culture Collection		
BHI	brain heart infusion		
CCFA	cycloserine, cefoxitin and fructose agar		
CFU	colony forming units		
CPE	cytopathic effect		
erm	erythromycin ribosome methylation (gene)		
FAA	fastidious anaerobe agar		
FAB	fastidious anaerobe broth		
Ig	immunoglobulin		
MIC	minimum inhibitory concentration		
MLS	macrolide-lincosamide-streptogramin		
NCCLS	National Committee for Clinical Laboratory Standards		
PCR	polymerase chain reaction		
PFGE	pulsed-field gel electrophoresis		
PMC	pseudomembranous colitis		
rRNA	ribosomal RNA		
TCCFA	cycloserine, cefoxitin and fructose agar supplemented with		
	taurocholate		
TMP	trimethoprim/sulfamethoxazole		

Introduction

In 1992, several animal hospitals in Sweden reported an increased frequency of acute and often fatal cases of colitis in mature horses. The most common risk group was horses hospitalized and treated for various diseases other than gastrointestinal. After a few days of hospitalization some horses developed acute and sometimes fatal, life-threatening diarrhoea. Another risk group was mares when their foals had been treated orally with erythromycin in combination with rifampicin for *Rhodococcus equi* pneumonia. Some mares developed sudden and sometimes fatal diarrhea after 3-4 days' treatment of the foals at an animal hospital. The symptoms were similar for both groups. A profuse watery acute diarrhea developed, often together with discoloured mucous membranes, fever and depression. The mortality was high despite intensive therapy.

In human medicine, the bacterium *Clostridium difficile* is since many years a well-known nosocomial pathogen in antibiotic associated diarrhea (Tabaqchali & Jumaa, 1995; Job & Jacobs, 1997). When the present study was initiated, *C. difficile* was only reported in diarrheic foals and not yet as a pathogen in mature horses. Sage (1998) suggested that listening to human experience of nosocomial infections may help the horse.

Historical background

C. difficile was first isolated from faeces of four of ten healthy newborn infants in 1935 (Hall & O'Toole, 1935). The organism was namned Bacillus difficilis because of difficulty in isolating and studying these bacteria. The organism produced a toxic culture filtrate that killed guinea pigs and rabbits upon injection (Hall & O'Toole, 1935). Snyder (1940) confirmed and extended these findings and also showed that the toxic activity was neutralized by antisera to Bacillus difficilis. As the bacterium was anaerobic endospore-forming and Gram-positive it was later classified as belonging to the genus Clostridium (Brazier & Borriello, 2000). In 1974, there were three independent studies that paved the way for understanding its significance in humans. Green (1974) found a cytotoxin in colon of guinea pigs which developed gut disease after receiving penicillin. Secondly, Tedesco et al. (1974) found an association between patients receiving clindamycin and the development of pseudomembranous colitis (PMC). Further C. difficile and its toxicity were studied in a thesis by Hafiz (1974). It was then demonstrated, in a Syrian hamster model, that C. difficile was the causative agent of antibiotic-associated diarrhea by Bartlett et al. (1977). In 1978, the first human cases were described when C. difficile was reported as a cause of PMC (Bartlett et al., 1978; George & Symonds, 1978; George et al., 1978; Larson et al., 1978).

Taxonomy

Description of Clostridium difficile

The bacterium C. difficile is an obligate anaerobic, large Gram-positive rod, measuring $0.5 \ge 3-6 \mu m$ (Quinn et al., 1994). The cells are usually peritrichous

which means that they are motile in broth cultures because of having flagella distributed over the cell. Some strains produce chains consisting of two to six cells aligned end-to-end. On blood agar the colonies are 2-5 mm in diameter, circular or rhizoid, flat or low convex, opaque, greyish or whitish and have a matt to glossy surface (Cato *et al.*, 1986). The odour of *C. difficile* colonies is likened to that of horse or elephant manure (Lyerly, 1995; Brazier & Borriello, 2000). The optimum temperature for growth *in vitro* is $30-37^{\circ}$ C, however growth has also been shown to occur at 25°C and 45°C. *C. difficile* forms oval, subterminal endospores (Cato *et al.*, 1986). The spore is a resting cell, highly resistant to heat, desiccation, oxygen and to chemical agents. When returned to favourable nutritional conditions and activated, the spore germinates to produce a vegetative cell (Brooks *et al.*, 1991). On non-selective agars, colonies usually sporulate after 72 h incubation and hence survive for a prolonged time when exposed to air (Brazier & Borriello, 2000).

C. difficile is a bacterium with low guanine (G) and cytosine (C) content in the genome, 28%, and thus rich in adenine (A) and thymidine (T) (Gottschalk *et al.*, 1981). The C. difficile genome is about 4.4 Mb in size (see TIGR databases at http://www.tigr.org).

Clostridium difficile toxins

Pathogenic strains of C. difficile produce two potent toxins: enterotoxin A and cytotoxin B. These toxins are of major importance in clinical disease (Kelly *et al.*, 1994). The C. difficile toxins A and B together with the lethal and haemorrhagic toxin from C. sordellii and the α -toxin of C. novyi, comprise a group called the large clostridial cytotoxins which are a family of functionally and structurally related toxins (Moncrief & Wilkins, 2000). Toxins A and B are both extremely large, having molecular masses of 308 and 270 kDa, respectively (Just *et al.*, 2000).

Toxin A was designated enterotoxin because it induces fluid accumulation in intestinal loop models (Lyerly *et al.*, 1985). Cytotoxin B does not cause fluid accumulation. Toxin B is about 100 to 1000-fold more cytotoxic to cultured cell lines than toxin A and was therefore called a cytotoxin (Lyerly *et al.*, 1982). Less than a picogram of cytotoxin B causes cells to round up, detach from their support and slowly die (Cato *et al.*, 1986). The cytotoxic effects of the *C. difficile* toxins are reviewed by Thelestam & Chaves-Olarte (2000).

Besides the two 'classic' toxins that can be produced by *C. difficile*, certain strains produce a binary toxin, ADP-ribosyltransferase, which pathophysiological significance is still unclear (Stubbs *et al.*, 2000; Rupnik, 2001). Recently, the genes of the binary toxin were found together with toxin A and B genes in 4 of 17 isolates from horses with various intestinal disorders (Braun *et al.*, 2000).

Natural classification

Natural classification reflects natural relations between organisms and can be phenetic or phylogenetic (Priest & Austin, 1993). Phenetic classification is based on a large number of phenotypic and genotypic properties, while phylogenetic classification is based on the evolutionary history of the organisms. In polyphasic taxonomy, phenetic and phylogenetic classifications are combined to obtain the 'true' relations between the organisms (Vandamme *et al.*, 1996).

The phylum *Firmicutes*, consisting of Gram-positive bacteria with a low G+C content, contains three classes: *Clostridia*, *Bacilli* and *Mollicutes*. The class *Clostridia* is further divided into orders, families and genera. The genus *Clostridium* belongs to the family *Clostridiaceae*, together with 12 other genera (See; http://www.cme.msu.edu/Bergeys/). The genus *Clostridium* constitutes a phylogenetically heterogeneous group. It arose as an early branch of the Grampositive bacteria. The formation of endospores was common to the genera *Clostridium* and *Bacillus* and also *Desulfotomaculum*, *Heliobacterium*, *Sarcina* and *Sporomusa* (Stackebrandt & Rainey, 1997).

The determination of rRNA relatedness values of 56 *Clostridium* species by Johnson & Francis in 1975 demonstrated that the genus *Clostridium* consists of a wide range of phylogenetically remotely related species.

Clostridium and related genera were divided into clusters I-XIX by Collins et al. (1994). Almost all clostridia classified as major pathogens, except C. difficile and C. sordellii, were included in the 16S rRNA clusters I and II. C. difficile was included in the cluster XI which also includes C. bifermentans, C. sordelli, 15 other Clostridium spp, and also non-Clostridium species, such as Eubacterium tenue and Peptostreptococcus anaerobius. With the new genetic information, taxonomic problems are arising and reclassifications have been considered.



0.10

Special purpose classification of pathogenic Clostridium species

Special purpose classification is not regarded as natural because it is based on very few properties and does not reflect natural relations between organisms (Priest & Austin, 1993). Furthermore, special purpose classifications involve only smaller groups of organisms and are in general useful only within certain fields, for instance clinical bacteriology. The pathogenic *Clostridium* spp. can be divided into four major groups according to the kind of disease they cause in animals (Table 1):

The neurotoxic clostridia (C. botulinum and C. tetani) produce potent neurotoxins but are non-invasive and colonize the host to a very limited extent.

The histotoxic clostridia (C. chauvoei, C. septicum, C. novyi, C. haemolyticum, C. sordellii, C. perfringens type A, and C. colinum) produce less potent toxins than the first group, but are invasive.

The clostridia that produce enterotoxaemias are *C. perfringens* types A-E. Enterotoxins are formed in the intestines and are absorbed into the bloodstream, producing a generalized toxaemia.

The clostridia associated with antibiotic-induced disease are C. difficile and C. spiroforme (Quinn et al., 1994; Carter et al., 1995).

Fig. 1. Evolutionary tree representing the phylogenetic relations of some representatives of the genera *Clostridium*, *Bacillus*, *Bifidobacterium*, *Lactobacillus*, *Eubacterium*, *Mycoplasma* and *Peptostreptococcus* based on 16S rRNA sequences. The tree was computed by the neighbour-joining method (Saitou & Nei, 1987) from a distance matrix corrected for multiple nucleotide substitutions by the one-parameter model (Jukes & Cantor, 1969). *Escherichia coli* was used as outgroup. The scale bar shows the distance corresponding to one substitution per 10 nucleotide positions. Clusters or rRNA groups defined according to Collins *et al.* (1994) and Johnson & Francis (1975), respectively.

animais					
Clostridium species	Hosts	Diseases			
NEUROTOXIC CLOSTRIDIA					
Clostridium tetani	Horses, ruminants and other	Tetanus			
	animals				
Clostridium botulinum	Many animal species	Botulism			
(types A-F)	(types A-F)				
HISTOTOXIC CLOSTRIDIA					
Clostridium chauvoei	Cattle, sheep, (pigs)	Blackleg (Black quarter)			
Clostridium septicum	Cattle, sheep, pigs	Malignant edema			
	Sheep	Braxy			
	Chickens	Necrotic dermatitis			
Clostridium novyi					
type A	Sheep	Big-head in rams			
	Cattle and sheep	Gas gangrene			
type B	Sheep, (cattle)	Black disease (necrotic			
		hepatitis)			
type C	Water buffalo	Osteomyelitis reported			
Clostridium haemolyticum	Cattle, (sheep)	Bacillary haemoglobinuria			
(C. novyi type D)					
Clostridium sordellii	Cattle, sheep, horses	Gas gangrene			
Clostridium colinum	Game birds, young chickens	Quail disease (ulcerative			
	and turkey poults	enteritis)			
ENTEROTOXAEMIAS					
Clostridium perfringens					
type A	Lambs	Enterotoxaemic jaundice			
type B	Lambs (under 3 weeks old)	Lamb dysentery			
	Neonatal calves and foals	Enterotoxaemia			
type C	Piglets, lambs, calves, foals	Haemorrhagic enterotoxaemia			
	Adult sheep	Struck			
	Chickens, piglets	Necrotic enteritis			
Type D	Sheep (all ages except	Pulpy kidney disease			
	neonates) (goats, calves)				
Type E	Calves and lambs (rare)	Enterotoxaemia			
CLOSTRIDIA ASSOCIATED WITH ANTIBIOTIC-INDUCED DISEASE					
Clostridium spiroforme	Rabbits	Possible role in mucoid			
		enteritis			
	Rabbits and guinea-pigs	Spontaneous and antibiotic-			
		induced diarrhea			
	Foals and pigs	Enterocolitis (natural)			
Clostridium difficile	Hamsters, rabbits, guinea-	Antibiotic-induced			
00	pigs	enterocolitis			
	Dogs, foals, pigs, laboratory	Naturally occurring diarrhea			
	animals				

Table 1. Summary of the hosts and diseases associated with the pathogenic clostridia in animals

Modified from Quinn, P.J., Carter, M.E., Markey, B. and Carter, G.R. (1994) In: Clinical Veterinary Microbiology, London. Wolfe Publishing, Mosby-Year Book Europe Limited, pp 192.

Pathogenesis

The normal intestinal microflora is one of the first-line of defence against infection (Borriello, 1998; Cleary, 1998). The normal microflora is capable of preventing colonisation by exogenous bacteria and limits the concentration of endogenous, potentially pathogenic bacteria. This protective effect of the normal microflora is frequently referred to as colonization resistance (Vollaard & Clasener, 1994).

C. difficile is usually a harmless environmental bacterium (Brazier & Borriello, 2000). The normal intestinal microflora has to be disturbed before *C. difficile* can become established and produce toxins (Borriello, 1998). By antibiotic treatment there is an initial disruption of the normal colonic bacterial flora, allowing *C. difficile* from endogenous or exogenous origins to establish itself in the colon and proliferate. If the isolate is toxigenic, toxins A and B are produced simultaneously in most cases. These protein toxins bind to specific receptors on the luminal aspect of the colonic epithelium and are then, by receptor-mediated endocytosis, transported into the cytoplasm (Farrel & LaMont, 2000). *C. difficile* toxins produce mucosal injury in the colon, as a result of damage to the cytoskeleton and inhibition of the functioning of tight junctions (Hecht *et al.*, 1992; Riegler *et al.*, 1995). The toxins cause fluid secretion, inflammation and mucosal damage, leading to diarrhea or pseudomembranous colitis (Barbut & Petit, 2001). The pathogenesis above is described in general terms; specific studies in horses have not yet been performed.

Antibiotic therapy ↓ Alteration of colonic microflora ↓ C. difficile exposure and colonization ↓ Release of toxins A and B ↓ Binding to receptors on intestinal epithelial cells ↓ Colonic mucosal injury and acute inflammation ↓ Diarrhea and colitis

Fig. 2. Pathogenesis of *C. difficile*-induced diarrhea and colitis (modified from Farrell & LaMont, 2000)

Epidemiology

The reservoir

For the development of C. *difficile* diarrhea, exposure to a toxigenic isolate of C. *difficile* is a prerequisite. The organism or its spores may originate from other diarrheic horses that are shedding the organism, from the horse itself by asymptomatic carriage, from the environment or from the hands of staff.

Carriage rates

C. difficile is rarely isolated from faecal samples of mature horses, having an isolation rate of 0-1% (Jones *et al.*, 1987; Al Saif & Brazier, 1996; Weese *et al.*, 2001a). Furthermore, C. difficile was found in 0-3% of faecal samples from healthy foals (Jones *et al.*, 1987; Beier *et al.*, 1994; Magdesian *et al.*, 1999; Weese *et al.*, 2001a).

In humans, carriage rates of *C. difficile* in adults vary from 0-3% up to 15% in Japan (Larson *et al.*, 1978; Nakamura *et al.*, 1981; Möllby *et al.*, 1985; Aronsson *et al.*, 1985). Carriage rates in neonates and infants are much higher with rates up to 52% (Larson *et al.*, 1982).

Environment

In several studies, samples from the environment have been analysed for *C. difficile.* The first was by Hafiz (1974) who isolated the organism from various sites such as sand and soil in Pakistan. Others have also isolated the organism from the soil (Blawat & Chylinski, 1958; Al Saif & Brazier, 1996). Interestingly, a high percentage of river waters (87.5%) and lake waters (50%) as well as swimming pools tested positive for *C. difficile* (Al Saif & Brazier, 1996).

In animal hospitals in Australia, Britain and Canada, *C. difficile* was isolated from various sites of environmental samples (Riley *et al.*, 1991; Al Saif & Brazier, 1996; Weese *et al.*, 2000a). Examples of positive sites were postmortem room floor, scales, thermometers, dog walk entry, stalls and medical staff (Weese *et al.*, 2000a).

Infection with C. difficile in humans is usually nosocomial (i.e. acquired during hospitalization). Several investigations of the hospital environment have been made. It was demonstrated early that C. difficile or its spores could be isolated from the human hospital environment of patients with antibiotic associated diarrhea (Mulligan et al., 1979; Fekety et al., 1981; Kim et al., 1981; McFarland et al., 1989). Spores were found to persist in the environment despite routine cleaning of rooms (McFarland et al. 1989). C. difficile has also been found in environments outside hospitals, such as in family homes and student residences (Al Saif & Brazier, 1996).

Transmission

Transmission of C. *difficile* is thought to occur via ingestion of the organism or its spores via the oro-faecal route (Jumaa *et al.*, 1996; Cleary, 1998; Worsley, 1998). When there are outbreaks in human hospitals, transmission is usually suggested to

occur via the hands of the hospital staff, or by direct contact with C. difficilepositive patients or contaminated surfaces (McFarland *et al.*, 1989; Worsley, 1998).

Several factors may facilitate transmission. The spores are resistant to the most commonly used disinfectants and antiseptics and can therefore survive for several months in the hospital environment (Barbut & Petit, 2001). However, the use of hypochlorite disinfectant was found to reduce the incidence of *C. difficile* infections (Mayfield *et al.*, 2000).

Risk factors

Most adult horses with C. difficile diarrhea have been treated with antibiotics prior to infection (Divers, 2002). Certain antibiotics have in particular been associated with C. difficile diarrhea in horses. These are erythromycin, trimethoprim/sulfonamides, gentamicin and β -lactam antibiotics (Madewell *et al.*, 1995; Magdesian *et al.*, 1997; Divers, 2002). Other antibiotics associated with diarrhea in horses are tetracyclines (Andersson *et al.*, 1971), lincomycin (Raisbeck *et al.*, 1981; Staempfli *et al.*, 1992), trimethoprim/sulphadiazine (Ensink *et al.*, 1996) and ceftiofur and metronidazole (Magdesian *et al.*, 1997). Orally administered antibiotics and those that undergo enterohepatic circulation or excretion into the intestine (macrolides, lincosamides, tetracyclines, and some cephalosporins) are more likely to cause diarrhea than parenterally administered antibiotics that do not gain access to the lumen of the intestine in an active form (Jones, 2000).

Various stress factors may have had a secondary influence on the colonic bacterial flora, such as transportation to the clinic, the stay at the animal hospital, presurgery fasting and surgery or medical treatment (Paper I). A risk factor for developing *C. difficile* disease in horses is the withholding of roughage. The volatile fatty acids produced in the colon by normal fibre fermentation are protective against disruption of the intestinal microflora (Divers, 2002).

Prevention

To prevent *C. difficile* diarrhea in horses it is important to isolate infected horses and foals and routine hand washing by all staff should be performed (Divers, 2002). Thorough cleaning with detergents to reduce the spores in the environment is essential (Worsley, 1998) and surface disinfection with hypochlorite may kill the spores (Divers, 2002).

The dams, of foals treated orally with erythromycin and rifampicin for *Rhodococcus equi* pneumonia should be fed from a container raised off the ground to prevent ingestion of erythromycin from the faeces of the foals. Foals treated orally with erythromycin should not be allowed to drink water from a shared bucket directly after treatment, in order to avoid ingestion of the antibiotic by the mare (Divers, 2002).

Laboratory diagnosis

The same methods as used for laboratory diagnosis of C. difficile in humans are also used in horses.

The specimen

An optimal laboratory investigation should be performed on a freshly taken faecal sample, directly submitted to the laboratory for investigation (Brazier & Borriello, 2000). However, due to practical circumstances, delay in arrival of the samples is not unusual. Some studies have been performed on the survival of the organism. According to Brazier & Borriello (2000) the organism sporulates 'readily' and the organism survives well in faeces for a long time at 4°C or frozen at -70° C. In a personal observation by Brazier, the organism survived in faecal samples at -70° C for a decade and at 4°C for many months. In several studies with positive cultures for *C. difficile*, faecal samples from horses were frozen before processing (Ehrich *et al.*, 1984; Weese *et al.*, 2001a). However, in its vegetative form the organism does not survive well in aerobically stored faecal samples (Weese *et al.*, 2000b). Our experience is that after 4 years *C. difficile* can still be isolated from faecal samples stored at -20° C (paper IV).

Storage of faecal samples at ambient temperature for a prolonged time may lead to denaturation of faecal toxin. Bowman & Riley (1986) demonstrated a 100-fold decrese of the cytotoxin titre of specimens stored at room temperature for 2 days. However, the toxins were stable for at least 60 days at 4°C according to experimental studies by Weese *et al.* (2000b). In conclusion, specimens that are not processed directly are recommended to be stored at 4°C or -20°C (Brazier & Borriello, 2000) or -70°C (Jones, 2000).

Culture

A selective agar medium, containing cycloserine (500 μ g/ml), cefoxitin (16 μ g/ml) and fructose agar (CCFA), was developed by George *et al.* (1979a). Later, an increased isolation rate, was reported by Levett (1985), with half of the antibiotic concentrations described by George *et al.*, (1979a). The antibiotics are of importance for reduction of contaminating intestinal flora. The addition of bile salts such as taurocholate to a medium was found to enhance the germination of spores (Wilson *et al.*, 1982; Buggy *et al.*, 1983).

Enrichment cultures have been tried in different studies (Beier *et al.*, 1994; Levett, 1984). However, it is generally accepted that for culture of faecal samples from diseased patients, it is not necessary (Brazier, 1998). Beier *et al.* (1994) used the enrichment technique after a spore selection procedure (5 min at 80° C) in faecal samples from horses. Selective enrichment may be useful in environmental studies, according to Buchanan (1984). Recently, contact plates have been used, with good results in environmental studies (Al Saif & Brazier, 1996; Weese *et al.*, 2000a). Various groups have reported the efficacy of alcohol (ethanol)-shock treatment of stool specimens to select for *C. difficile* spores (Borriello & Honour, 1981; Bartley & Dowell, 1991; Al Saif & Brazier, 1996; Brazier & Borriello, 2000).

In recent years, the value of culture in the diagnosis of *C. difficile* infection in humans has been discussed. According to several authors, toxin detection in faecal samples is sufficient for diagnosis (Lyerly *et al.*, 1998).



Fig. 3. *Clostridium difficile* ATCC 9689 colonies on FAA plates with defibrinated horse blood. Photo: Bengt Ekberg

Identification

To identify *C. difficile*, its distinctive odour on agar plates may be of good help, together with colony appearance and Gram stain. Another characteristic is the ability of colonies, after 48 h incubation on non-selective blood-based agar, to produce a pale green to chartreuse fluorescence under long-wave length ultraviolet light (Cato *et al.*, 1986; Perrin *et al.*, 1993a; Brazier, 1998). The following tests have been used for typing of equine isolates: Culturette CDT latex agglutination test (Becton Dickinson, Cockeysville, Md, USA) (Madewell *et al.*, 1995), detection of L-proline aminopeptidase production (ProDisc, Carr-Scarborough Microbiological, Decatur, Ga, USA) (Weese *et al.*, 2001a), gasliquid chromatography with a large peak of isocaproic acid and biochemical testing (Jones *et al.*, 1989; Perrin *et al.*, 1993a).



Fig. 4. Clostridium difficile ATCC 9689 colonies on TCCFA plates. Photo: Bengt Ekberg

Demonstration of Clostridium difficile toxins

Weese *et al.* (2001a) have suggested that demonstration of toxin in faecal samples from horses showing symptoms is required for a positive diagnosis of *C. difficile* diarrhea. In humans, detection of *C. difficile* toxins is considered the standard for diagnosis (Lyerly *et al.*, 1998). However, Delmée (2001) also considered culture-positive but toxin-negative faecal samples with *in vitro* toxin production of the isolate as probable *C. difficile* diarrhea.

Cytotoxin B assay by tissue culture

Both enterotoxin A and cytotoxin B are cytotoxic. However, the use of tissue culture to demonstrate *C. difficile* toxins in faecal samples has become synonymous with the detection of toxin B. The reason for this is that toxin B is more potent that toxin A for most cell lines. Also, before toxin A was known, toxic effects on tissue culture were studied (Brazier, 1998). The method consists of inoculating a filtrate of a faecal specimen into a cell culture. A cytopathic effect (CPE) is observed after 24-48 h incubation at 37°C, as a consequense of disruption of the cytoskeleton; which may result in cell rounding in many cell lines. Confirmation of the specificity is obtained by neutralization with antitoxin. *C. difficile* or *C. sordellii*, which share the same antigens, are recommended (Delmée, 2001).



Fig. 5. Cytotoxin B positive assay (MRC-5 cells). Photo: Viveca Båverud



Fig. 6. Cytotoxin B negative assay (MRC-5 cells). Photo: Viveca Båverud

The cytotoxin assay for detection of toxin B in faecal specimens is considered to be the gold standard method by virtue of its high sensitivity and specificity. As the toxin is labile, false-negative results may occur due to inactivation during transport (Fekety, 1995). Other disadvantages are technical complexity and slow

turnaround time (24-48 h). The need to maintain cell lines is both time-consuming and expensive, especially if only a small number of specimens are processed (Delmée, 2001).

Enzyme immunoassays for testing of C. difficile toxin A and/or B

Commercial products for rapid immunological detection of *C. difficile* toxin have been developed. Most assays use monoclonal antitoxin A antibodies, whereas a few are designed to detect both toxins (Lyerly *et al.*, 1998; Delmée, 2001; O'Connor *et al.*, 2001). The tests have been performed on faecal specimens from horses (Weese *et al.*, 2001a; Donaldson & Palmer, 1999) but are not validated or compared with the cytotoxin assay. The advantages of using the rapid immunoassays are that they are relatively simple to perform and provide the possibility of testing samples the same day even for single specimens. When compared with faecal cytotoxin detection on cell lines, the different enzyme immunoassays show a slightly lower sensitivity (O'Connor *et al.*, 2001).

Detection of toxin A and B genes by PCR in faecal samples

Direct detection of toxin A or B genes in faecal samples by the Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR) has been used (Kato *et al.*, 1993; Gumerlock *et al.*, 1993; Wolfhagen *et al.*, 1994; Arzese *et al.*, 1995) but the results so far have not proved significantly better than with the classic methods for toxin demonstration (Delmée, 2001).

Detection of toxin A and B genes by PCR on isolates

Several PCR-based methods have been developed for detection of the toxin A and B genes in *C. difficile* isolates (Wren *et al.*, 1990; Kato *et al.*, 1991; McMillan *et al.*, 1992; Karasawa *et al.*, 1999; Kato *et al.*, 1998). Toxins A and B are encoded by separate genes located in close proximity on the chromosome (Braun *et al.*, 1996). The PCR test shows if the genes are present, but gives no information about their expression.

Methods of subtyping C. difficile

Various methods have early been developed to understand the epidemiology of nosocomial outbreaks of *C. difficile* infections in humans. At first, phenotypic typing methods were developed to study the epidemiology of *C. difficile* infection at a local level (reviewed by Brazier, 2001), e.g. antibiograms. Further, Delmée *et al.* (1985) developed a method where isolates of *C. difficile* could be grouped into at least 10 different serotypes based on slide agglutination with rabbit antisera. This method is frequently used as the standard by which other typing methods are compared.

Recently, many molecular typing methods have been developed and used (reviewed by Brazier, 1998, 2001). Pulsed-field gel electrophoresis (PFGE) has been widely used as a molecular fingerprinting technique for subtyping of clinical isolates. However, in different studies, some isolates have been found non-typable by PFGE because of DNA degradation (Samore *et al.*, 1996; Kristjansson *et al.*, 1994; Klaassen *et al.*, 2002). PCR-ribotyping, based on the spacer region between the 16S and 23S rRNA regions, has frequently been used (O'Neill *et al.*, 1996;

Clostridium difficile in humans

According to Fekety (1995) as many as 5-10% of hospitalized patients given antibiotics develop diarrhea. Antibiotic-associated diarrhea is associated with prolonged hospitalization, higher costs and, furthermore an increase in mortality (Frost et al., 1998; Spencer, 1998a). C. difficile accounts for about 20-25% of antibiotic-associated diarrhea cases in humans and causes the majority of antibiotic-associated colitis and pseudomembranous colitis (PMC) (Aronsson et al., 1981; Möllby et al., 1985; Lyerly et al., 1988; Bartlett, 1990; McFarland et al., 1990; Fekety, 1995). C. difficile is known to be the most common nosocomial enteric pathogen in humans (Silva, 1994; Melcher & Mover, 1995; Tabagchali & Jumaa, 1995; Job & Jacobs, 1997). The infection is typically acquired in hospital. A high proportion of the patients are treated with antibiotics in an environment where C. difficile is highly prevalent (Farrell & LaMont, 2000). Especially cephalosporins, ampicillin/amoxicillin, and clindamycin predispose to C. difficileinduced enteric disease in humans (Aronsson et al., 1985; Mitty & LaMont, 1994; Spencer, 1998b; Johnson et al., 1999). However, many antibiotics have been associated with predisposition to C. difficile infection (Spencer, 1998b; Möllby et al., 1980).

C. difficile disease varies from mild diarrhea, which is the most common form, to life threatening PMC (Jumaa *et al.*, 1996). PMC, when pseudomembranes are formed, may cause development of a paralytic ileus and colonic dilatation which can result in a paradoxical decrease in the diarrhea. Colonic perforation and peritonitis may occur (Tabaqchali & Jumaa, 1995). Recurrent *C. difficile* associated disease, through relapse or reinfection, is not uncommon (Fekety, 1995; Alcantara & Guerrant, 2000).

Infants are very often asymptomatic carriers of *C. difficile*, even with toxigenic isolates (Merida *et al.*, 1986; Tullus *et al.*, 1989). Infection with *C. difficile* is uncommon in this age group. However, it has recently been reported that *C. difficile* was causing disease in infants (Kelly *et al.*, 1994; McGowan & Kader, 1999).

Prevention

To prevent *C. difficile* infections in humans, it is important to institute regulated and directed antibiotic treatment (Spencer, 1998b). Isolation and treatment of infected patients are also important. Thorough handwashing by all staff after contact with patients and their environment is important, as also is daily cleaning to reduce level of environmental spores (Tabaqchali & Jumaa, 1995).

Clostridium difficile in animals other than horses

Dogs

Isolation rates varying between 0% and 40% have been reported in mature dogs (Borriello *et al.*, 1983; Weber *et al.*, 1989; Riley *et al.*, 1991; Martirossian *et al.*, 1992; Perrin *et al.*, 1993b; Struble *et al.*, 1994; Buogo *et al.*, 1995; Al Saif &

Brazier, 1996; Weese *et al.*, 2001b). In most of these investigations, samples were taken from dogs at animal clinics or animal hospitals. In-patients (overnight hospitalization) were found to be at increased risk of carrying the organism (Struble *et al.*, 1994). In some studies the carriage rates were higher when dogs were treated with antibiotics (Martirossian *et al.*, 1992; Riley *et al.*, 1991).

Neonatal puppies may be asymptomatic carriers of *C. difficile*, as the organism was isolated from 46% (Buogo *et al.*, 1995) and 94.3% of the puppies during the first 10 weeks of life and from 42.9% of their dams (Perrin *et al.*, 1993b).

The role of *C. difficile* in diarrheic dogs is not clear. Recently, *C. difficile* toxins A and/or B were demonstrated in diarrheic dogs, but also in a small number of healthy dogs (Weese *et al.*, 2001b). In a report by Berry & Levett (1986) *C. difficile* was suggested to play an etiological role in chronic diarrhea of dogs. Further studies are needed to clarify the significance of *C. difficile* in diarrheic dogs.

Cats

Most studies on C. difficile carriage in cats have been performed at veterinary clinics or hospitals. The reported isolation rates were 2-38.1% (Borriello *et al.*, 1983; Weber *et al.*, 1989; Riley *et al.*, 1991; Al Saif & Brazier, 1996; Madewell *et al.*, 1999). Several studies confirm the prescence of C. difficile in cats at animal hospitals.

In a study by Madewell *et al.* (1999) *C. difficile* was found in 9.4% of the patients at the hospital, whereas none of the healthy cats examined were carrriers. Interestingly, cats that harboured toxigenic isolates of *C. difficile* were all (except one) treated with antibiotics for various diseases. The significance of *C. difficile* in diarrheic cats remains to be studied.

Other animals

Diarrhea caused by *C. difficile* was first described in hamsters treated with clindamycin (Bartlett *et al.*, 1977). Several animal models, particularly involving hamster, were used to better understand the development of diarrhea in humans. Antibiotic-associated diarrhea caused by *C. difficile* was described in rabbits and guinea pigs (Chang *et al.*, 1978; Fekety *et al.*, 1979; Rehg & Lu, 1981; Rehg & Pakes, 1981; Rothman, 1981). Enteritis due to *C. difficile* has also been reported in rats and mice (Lyerly *et al.*, 1985) and further in captive ostriches (Frazier *et al.*, 1993).

C. difficile has been isolated from faeces of various non-diarrheic animal species such as sheep and poultry (Al Saif & Brazier, 1996), camel and donkey (Hafiz & Oakley, 1976).

Acute colitis of other bacteriological etiology than C. difficile

Acute colitis (an inflammation of the colon) in mature horses is often a very severe disease with high mortality. Often the etiology is not clear (Vaughan, 1973; Mair *et al.*, 1990; Staempfli *et al.*, 1991; Murray, 1992; Palmer, 1992; Cohen & Woods, 1999). Various bacterial pathogens have been suggested to be etiological agents.

Salmonella spp.

In many countries, *Salmonella* spp. is the most common cause of infectious colitis (Prescott *et al.*, 1988; Smith, 1991; Murray, 1992). However, in many intensive care veterinary hospitals, *C. difficile* is more frequently isolated from mature horses than is *Salmonella* spp. (Divers, 2002). In Sweden, *Salmonella* spp. rarely causes infections in horses, with 1-5 outbreaks annually over a decade (Eld *et al.*, 1991; Malmqvist *et al.*, 1995).

Ehrlichia risticii

Equine ehrlichial colitis is usually called Potomac horse fever, since the disease was first reported in 1979 along the Potomac River in Maryland, USA. This disease, which is caused by the bacterium *Ehrlichia risticii*, has been confirmed also in Canada and Europe (Divers, 2002). The disease, a monocytic ehrlichiosis, has never been diagnosed in Sweden.

Clostridium spp.

Clostridial diarrhea in mature horses may result from infections with toxigenic isolates of *C. difficile* or *C. perfringens* (Divers, 2002), but even other clostridia have been implicated. *C. septicum* has been isolated from faecal samples from horses with colitis (Jones & Wilson, 1993) and *C. sordellii* from diarrheic foals (Hibbs *et al.*, 1977). Further, *C. cadaveris* was found in horses treated with lincomycin (Staempfli *et al.*, 1992).

Clostridium perfringens

In a doctoral thesis by Wierup (1977) diarrheal disease was reported to be associated with high intestinal counts of *C. perfringens* type A. Acute colitis has also been induced experimentally by *C. perfringens* type A (Ochoa & Kern, 1980). In foals, *C. perfringens* types B, C and D have been associated with severe haemorrhagic enterocolitis (Stubbens, 1990; Traub-Dargatz & Jones, 1993). *C. perfringens* is classified according to the major toxins into five different types (type A-E). Some *C. perfringens* isolates of type A produce an enterotoxin, also a cause of food poisoning in humans. *C. perfringens* enterotoxin was demonstrated in 16% and 19%, respectively, of faecal samples from diarrheic horses (Donaldson & Palmer, 1999; Weese *et al.*, 2001a). Recently, the gene of a novel toxin β_2 produced by certain strains of *C. perfringens* was found together with the gene for toxin α in isolates from horses with typhlocolitis. No β_2 -toxigenic *C. perfringens* was found in faecal samples from control horses (Herholz *et al.*, 1999).

Antimicrobial susceptibility

Early studies on the antimicrobial susceptibility of C. difficile demonstrated susceptibility to metronidazole, penicillin and ampicillin, whereas all strains were resistant to aminoglycosides (Fekety et al., 1979; George et al., 1979b; Aronsson et al., 1981; Nakamura et al., 1982). Furthermore, strains were highly resistant to cefoxitin and cycloserine (Aronsson et al., 1981; Nakamura et al., 1982), the antibiotics that are widely used in selective agar plates. Susceptibility of C. difficile strains to erythromycin, rifampicin, clindamycin, lincomycin. chloramphenicol and tetracycline varied widely, with either very high or low minimum inhibitory concentrations (MIC) (Nakamura et al., 1982; Delmé & Avesani, 1988; Wüst and Hardegger, 1988). In studies by Delmé & Avesani (1988) a correlation was demonstrated between susceptibility profiles and serogroups. Most isolates belonging to serogroup C were resistant to erythromycin, rifampicin, clindamycin, tetracycline and chloramphenicol.

Few antimicrobial susceptibility tests have been performed on *C. difficile* isolates from horses. In the study by Weese *et al.* (2001a) where the Etest was used, all isolates were susceptible to metronidazole (MIC $\leq 1.5 \ \mu g/ml$) and vancomycin (MIC $\leq 2 \ \mu g/ml$), the antibiotics used to treat *C. difficile* diarrhea. However, Jang *et al.*, (1997) found metronidazole resistance (MIC $\geq 8 \ \mu g/ml$) in 19% of 105 investigated horse isolates, whereas all isolates had low MICs to vancomycin (MIC $\leq 2 \ \mu g/ml$).

Aims of the present investigations

In 1992 several animal hospitals in Sweden reported an increased frequency of acute and often fatal colitis affecting mature horses treated for various diseases other than gastrointestinal. The etiology was unknown. *C. difficile* was an interesting possibility as, in human medicine, the organism had for many years been a well-known nosocomial pathogen in antibiotic-associated diarrhea. When work on the present investigations concerning horses began, *C. difficile* was reported to be found only in diarrheic foals but not yet as a pathogen in mature horses.

The overall aim of this work was to study *C. difficile* and its significance in horses with acute colitis. The aim can be further specified as studies on:

- the association of *C. difficile* colonization with the occurrence of diarrhea, antibiotic treatment, and age of the horses;
- the impact of oral dosage of erythromycin and rifampicin in mature horses;
- the occurrence and survival of C. difficile and its spores in the environment;
- the antimicrobial susceptibility of C. difficile.

Comments on Materials and Methods applied

A brief introduction and some additional information to Materials and Methods used in the thesis are presented here. Further details are given in Papers I-V.

Animals (Papers I-IV)

The diseased mature horses and foals in Papers I-II and IV were sampled at three animal hospitals, three large animal clinics and in general practice in order to obtain samples from horses at different animal hospitals and clinics. The mature horses and foals without enteric disorders were sampled at their home stables in the Uppsala region and at the Faculty of Veterinary Medicine. The purpose was to get samples from horses of different breeds and age and from numerous different stables and also horses that were used in different types of sports, e.g. riding, trotting, and for breeding.

For the experimental study reported in Paper III, horses belonging to the Faculty of Veterinary Medicine were used. The study was approved by the Ethical Committee for Animal Experimentation, Uppsala, Sweden.

Faecal samples (Papers I-IV)

The faecal samples were taken from the rectum of mature horses and diseased foals and packed in thick plastic bags or plastic tubes. Excess air was pressed out. Most of the healthy foals were sampled with rectal swabs which were transported in Amies' medium with charcoal (Venturi Transystem, Copan, Brescia, Italy) in order to ensure anaerobic condition during transport.

In Papers I, II and IV the faecal samples were cultured within 48 h and the majority within 24 h. Samples from horses in Paper III were cultured within 4 h (except one sample from each horse, which was processed within 24 h). Samples from horses at the animal hospitals were stored in the refrigerator until forwarding to the laboratory. On arrival at the laboratory, the samples were frozen at -20° C for later cytotoxin B assay.

Environmental samples (Paper IV)

The purpose of obtaining indoor and outdoor environmental samples was to get specimens from different horse environments and also from public places. The indoor surface samples were collected at the Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, on stud farms, and at stables with mature horses and public places. The samples were taken with swabs that were moistened with a NaCl solution and then placed in Amies' medium with charcoal.

The soil samples were taken from paddocks and enclosed pastures at stud farms and stables with mature horses and also from public parks, gardens, cultivated fields and playgrounds.

Bacterial isolates (Papers I-V)

All isolates used in the antimicrobial susceptibility tests in Papers IV and V were isolated from faecal samples from horses further described in Papers I-IV and from environmental sites described in Paper IV.

Reference strains were purchased from the American Type Culture Collection (ATCC). For the quality control of the antibiotic panels, two anaerobic and four aerobic strains recommended by The National Committee for Clinical Laboratory Standards ([NCCLS] 1999, 2001) were used: *Bacteroides fragilis* ATCC 25285, *Bacteroides thetaiotaomicron* ATCC 29 741, *Enterococcus faecalis* ATCC 29 212, *Escherichia coli* ATCC 25 922, *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* ATCC 27 853 and *Staphylococcus aureus* ATCC 29 213.

Culture of *Clostridium difficile* (Papers I-IV)

All faecal and environmental samples throughout the study were cultured on a selective agar containing cycloserine, cefoxitin, fructose, egg yolk and taurocholate, TCCFA (George *et al.*, 1979a; Wilson *et al.*, 1982). Early in the studies the antibiotic concentrations of cycloserine and cefoxitin were 500 μ g/ml and 16 μ g/ml respectively. Later in the study and for the majority of samples, the concentrations of the antibiotics were reduced to 250 and 8 μ g/ml for cycloserine and cefoxitin, respectively (Levett, 1985; Brazier, 1993).

In Papers I and II faeces were also inoculated onto *Clostridium difficile* (CD) agar. The composition of the medium was the same as for TCCFA except that taurocholate was not included and the egg yolk emulsion was replaced with blood. The *C. difficile* colonies appeared yellow on the TCCFA plates and were therefore easier to find. The CD agar was later excluded because *C. difficile* was not isolated more often on CD agar than on TCCFA agar.

At the beginning of the studies, faeces were also inoculated into an enrichment broth; BHI broth 37.0 g/l, supplemented with yeast extract 5.0 g/l, Resazurin solution 4.0 ml/l, Bacto agar 0.5 g/l, L-cysteine HCl 0.5 g/l and vitamin K1haemin solution 10.0 ml/l. and incubated for 48 h at 37°C. The broth was then inoculated onto TCCFA and CD plates. The isolation frequency was no higher after cultivation in enrichment broth than with primary isolation on selective agar, possibly due to absence of selective enrichment. The broth was therefore not included further in the investigation.

All incubations were performed in an anaerobic chamber or anaerobic jars at 37°C for 48 and 96 h. The environmental samples were incubated for 5 days according to Al Saif & Brazier (1996).

Identification of *Clostridium difficile* (Papers I-IV)

All isolates were typed by the following tests: characteristic smell from colonies of horse odour, colony morphology, Gram stain, biochemical tests and gas-liquid chromatography. In order to obtain material for the identification, all isolates were subcultured on fastidious anaerobe agar (FAA) (LabM, Bury, Lancashire, England) with 5% defibrinated horse blood. Biochemical tests and gas-liquid chromatography were performed from prereduced anaerobically sterilized medium (Holdeman *et al.*, 1977) in Papers I-III and from fastidious anaerobe broth (FAB) (LabM, Bury, Lancashire, England) in Paper IV due to new routines at the anaerobic diagnostic laboratory.

Biochemical tests (Papers I-IV)

The biochemical tests used in the routine diagnostics of anaerobic bacteria at our laboratory were used to identify *C. difficile*. The following biochemical tests were applied to all isolates: esculin, fructose, glucose, lactose, maltose, mannitol, sucrose, indole, nitrate, starch and urea.

Gas-liquid chromatography (Papers I-IV)

Gas-liquid chromatography is a well-established method for typing of anaerobic bacteria. The bacteria produce short-chain fatty acids as a result of carbohydrate metabolism (Holdeman *et al.* 1977). The volatile fatty acids are analysed. An ether extract is prepared from a culture and the gas-liquid chromatography was performed according to Holdeman *et al.* (1977) with ether.

Storing of isolates

All isolates were stored at -70°C.

Clostridium difficile cytotoxin B assay (Papers I-IV)

A cytotoxin B assay was performed on faecal specimens. A suspension of the faecal sample was made in phosphate-buffered saline. After centrifugation, the supernatant was passed through a filter and the filtrate was inoculated onto the cell layer. After incubation at 37° C the cells were examined by microscopy for cytopathic effects after 4 and 18 h. Later in the study the cells were also examined after 2 days. Positive toxin B samples were confirmed by neutralization with *C. difficile* antitoxin B.

Early in the studies the test was performed at the Karolinska Institute, Stockholm and human embryonal intestinal cells, ATCC CCL 6 (HEIC) were used. Later, and for the majority of samples, the test was performed at the National Veterinary Institute with human diploid lung fibroblast cells (ECACC, European collection of animal cell cultures 84101801 [MRC-5]). First the cells were obtained from the Department of Clinical Microbiology, University Hospital, Uppsala and later produced at the Department of Bacteriology, National Veterinary Institute. According to Delmée (2001) almost every cell line used in clinical microbiology laboratories can be used to detect faecal *C. difficile* cytotoxin.

In vitro amplification of toxin A and B gene fragments by PCR (Paper IV)

Faecal samples from healthy foals could not be tested for cytotoxin B as the amounts of faeces were too small and the environmental samples most probably contain spores with no growth of *C. difficile* and thus would not produce toxins. The isolates from foals and environment were therefore tested for possession of toxin A and B genes. A duplex PCR system was designed to amplify fragments of a 1217-bp toxin A gene and a 1050-bp toxin B gene, according to McMillin *et al.* (1992), with some modifications further described in Paper IV.

Anaerobic culture (Papers I-III)

Anaerobic cultures for anaerobic bacteria other than *C. difficile* were performed from faecal samples from diarrheic horses on FAA plates with 5% defibrinated horse blood according to Holdeman *et al.* (1977). The plates were read for growth of *Clostridium* spp. other than *C. difficile* with special attention to *C. perfringens*. To isolate *C. perfringens* an encrichment technique was also used after a spore selection procedure (30 min at 65°C) but only as a complement when it was difficult to recover from the primary isolation. Typical colonies of *C. perfringens* were identified by colony morphology with a characteristic haemolysis, Gram stain and positive lecithinase test. As *C. perfringens* has been associated with diarrhea in horses (Wierup, 1977; Ochoa & Kern, 1980; Donaldson & Palmer, 1999; Weese *et al.*, 2001a; Herholz *et al.*, 1999) it was important to culture for this organism.

Bacteriological examination of faecal flora (Papers I-III)

A bacteriological examination of the faecal flora of diarrheic horses in Papers I-III was made according to Wierup (1977) and Wierup & DiPietro (1981). Faeces had to be cultured within 4 h of collection according to the method (Wierup & DiPietro, 1981). Counts of colony forming units (CFU) per gram faeces of lecithinase-positive clostridia, coliform bacteria, *Bacillus* spp. and moulds were performed. The pH was also measured. Due to practical circumstances a bacteriological examination was not performed on all diarrheic faecal samples. This investigation has commonly been performed in Sweden on faecal samples from horses with intestinal disorders. Wierup (1977) demonstrated that acute diarrhea was associated with high counts (up to 10^7 CFU/g faeces) of lecithinase-positive clostridia. Divers (2002) suggested >10⁵ CFU/g faeces if *C. perfringens* is to be blamed as the causal agent of the diarrhea.

Antimicrobial susceptibility of Clostridium difficile (Papers II-V)

The method recommended by the NCCLS (2001) for susceptibility testing of anaerobes is agar dilution. However, this method is tedious and inconvenient to perform in routine laboratories, especially for a small number of isolates. Recently, broth microdilution was recommended for susceptibility testing of the *Bacteroides fragilis* group as an alternative to agar dilution (NCCLS, 2001).

Etest (Paper II-IV)

The Etest (AB Biodisk, Solna, Sweden) is a commercially available agar diffusion susceptibility test, which was found to be a convenient and simple method to determine MIC of certain antimicrobial agents for *C. difficile*. The method is not approved by the NCCLS but is frequently used in clinical laboratories. Plastic Etest strips are coated with a gradient of an antimicrobial agent. The test was performed on prereduced Wilkins Chalgren agar with 5% defibrinated horse blood. A suspension of each *C. difficile* isolate was streaked on the agar plate and the strip was applied to the surface of the plate according to the manufacturer's instruction. The plates were incubated at 37°C in anaerobic atmosphere for 2 days. The MIC value was read at the point of intersection between the inhibition ellipse edge and the Etest strip. Two quality control strains of *Bacteroides fragilis* ATCC 25285 and *Bacteroides thetaiotaomicron* ATCC 29 741 were included in each test run. The purity of each suspension was checked in an anaerobic atmosphere and an anaerobic indicator strip (Oxoid Limited, Basingstoke, Hampshire, England) was used to check the anaerobic atmosphere.

Broth microdilution (Paper V)

Commercially available 96-well panels for monitoring of antibiotic resistance of Gram-positive bacteria were used (VetMICTM, National Veterinary Institute, Uppsala, Sweden). The panels had small volumes of antimicrobial agents dried in two-fold dilutions. Each well was inoculated with a suspension of the isolate. The panels were incubated for 2 days at 37° C in anaerobic atmosphere. The MIC was determined as the lowest concentration where no visible growth, or the most significant reduction of growth, was observed.

Before the study, various broths were tested for growth of *C. difficile*, such as: FAB (LabM, Bury, Lancashire, England), BHI broth, BHI broth supplemented with 10% fetal calf serum, BHI supplemented with 10% horse serum, Haemophilus Test Medium Broth, Mueller Hinton broth and BHI broth 37.0 g/l, supplemented with yeast extract 5.0 g/l, Resazurin solution 4.0 ml/l, L-cysteine HC1 0.5 g/l and vitamin K1-haemin solution 10.0 ml/l. For our study we chose BHI, supplemented with 10% fetal calf serum, which supported growth well and gave correct MICs for the reference strains.

In their recommendations of 1997, the NCCLS reported that several broth media had been used successfully. However, in their latest version (NCCLS, 2001), supplemented Brucella broth was reported to be optimal for growth of most anaerobic bacteria when prepared aerobically, but incubated anaerobically. As our study was performed earlier, we did not test this recently recommended medium.

When performing susceptibility testings it is very important to conduct quality controls to ascertain if the method is reliable. In this study the following quality control measures were performed: two anaerobic reference strains were included in each test run, the purity of each suspension was checked in aerobic and anaerobic atmospheres and an anaerobic indicator strip (Oxoid Limited, Basingstoke, Hampshire, England) was placed in each box. Furthermore, in each panel there were two wells without antimicrobial agents containing dried dilution buffers, used as growth checks and the inoculum density (1 x 10^8 CFU/ml) was checked by viable counts.

At first, one reference strain, *C. difficile* ATCC 9689 was included. Despite several tests, this reference strain did not grow well in the control wells and was therefore excluded from the investigation. For future studies it is important to include a reference strain.

Results and Discussion (Papers I-V)

Clostridium difficile in mature horses (Papers I, IV)

It was shown that *C. difficile* was associated with acute colitis in mature horses that were treated with antibiotics for other diseases than gastrointestinal. *C. difficile* was also reported by others to be associated with diarrhea in horses treated with antibiotics (Beier *et al.*, 1994; Cosmetatos *et al.*, 1994; Madewell *et al.*, 1995; Magdesian *et al.*, 1997). However, some reports did not state whether or not the horses had been treated with antibiotics (Jang *et al.*, 1997; Donaldson & Palmer, 1999; Weese *et al.*, 2001a).

Most of horses proving positive for *C. difficile* had been treated with β -lactam antibiotics, either alone or often in combination with other antibiotics. The high representation of β -lactam antibiotics may be attributed to the fact that penicillin is the most frequently used antibiotic for horses in Sweden. In humans, most of the currently available antibiotics have been implicated in *C. difficile* diarrhea (Worsley, 1998). In horses, the antibiotics that in particular have been associated with *C. difficile* diarrhea are β -lactam antibiotics, erythromycin, gentamicin and trimethoprim/sulfonamides (Madewell *et al.*, 1995; Magdesian *et al.*, 1997; Divers, 2002). Other antibiotics associated with diarrhea in horses are lincomycin (Raisbeck *et al.*, 1981), tetracyclines (Andersson *et al.*, 1971), ceftiofur and metronidazole (Magdesian *et al.*, 1997).

It was noteworthy that β -lactam antibiotics can lead to overgrowth of *C. difficile* in the colon despite the susceptibility of this organism to these antibiotics *in vitro*. The concentrations of antibiotics in the intestinal lumen generally are not known for horses. Most probably the concentration of penicillin in the colon is too low to inhibit growth.

In humans, the multiple use of antibiotics increases the risk of C. *difficile* infection (Gerding *et al.*, 1986). In horses, it would be interesting to study if horses treated with a combination of antibiotics run a greater risk of developing C. *difficile* diarrhea than horses treated with a single antibiotic.

Other factors than antibiotic treatment may also be of importance and may have a secondary influence on the colonic bacterial flora. Hospitalized horses are often exposed to several stress factors such as transportation to the animal hospital, the hospitalization itself, presurgery fasting, surgery and medical treatment.

In Paper IV C. difficile was also isolated from a few (4/72) diarrheic horses not treated with antibiotics. C. difficile has been isolated from untreated diarrheic horses by others, too (Beier et al., 1994; Cosmetatos et al., 1994; Magdesian et al., 1997). C. difficile was not found in faeces of any healthy mature horses, from non-diarrheic hospitalized horses treated with antibiotics nor from untreated horses with colic.

Two horses were culture negative but cytotoxin B positive. Weese *et al.* (2000b) demonstrated that lack of anaerobic storage can reduce the incidence of positive

cultures. If there are no spores in a sample it may be difficult for the organism to survive.

In humans, *C. difficile* is a nosocomial pathogen. In horses too, *C. difficile* infection may be nosocomial (Cosmetatos *et al.*, 1994; Madewell *et al.*, 1995). In paper I, 8 of 10 and in Paper IV, 12 of 18 *C. difficile* positive horses were or had recently been hospitalized.

In the present study, *C. perfringens* was not demonstrated to be involved in the etiology of antibiotic-associated colitis. In paper I, 4 diarrheic horses, not treated with antibiotics, had high numbers of lecithinase-positive clostridia other than *C. difficile*. Demonstration of toxins in the faecal samples is recommended for future studies. No other investigated bacterial pathogen was found in horses with antibiotic-associated diarrhea, except that *Salmonella* typhimurium was isolated from one horse (Paper IV). However, in the majority of cases of antibiotic associated diarrhea cases are caused by *C. difficile* (Möllby *et al.*, 1985; Lyerly *et al.*, 1988; Bartlett, 1990; McFarland, 1990; Fekety, 1995). In Paper IV, cytotoxin B was demonstrated in 28% of the faecal samples from horses with antibiotic-associated diarrhea.

Clostridium difficile associated with acute colitis in mares when their foals are treated with erythromycin and rifampicin for *Rhodococcus equi* pneumonia (Paper II)

In 1992, acute colitis was reported in previously healthy mares when their foals were treated orally with erythromycin in combination with rifampicin for *Rhodococcus equi* pneumonia. A few mares developed sudden and sometimes fatal diarrhea often after 3-4 days' treatment of their foals at an animal hospital or rarely at a stud farm. The problem had earlier been observed in USA by Wilson (1992) but the etiology had not been established.

One theory was that accidental ingestion of an antibiotic by the mares from the treatment of their foals might have disturbed the intestinal flora and resulted in acute diarrhea. Two different erythromycin formulas were used in Sweden for treatment of R. equi infection in foals. Erythromycin base in tablet form was used at one animal hospital and erythromycin ethylsuccinate in oral suspension was used at the other animal hospitals. Both formulas caused acute colitis in the mares. Wilson (1992) reported that erythromycin base was used at their American clinic.

In the present study it was demonstrated that faeces from foals whose dams had acute colitis also had high concentrations of erythromycin, while faeces from foals whose dams remained healthy had low concentrations of erythromycin. There must have been an accidental ingestion of erythromycin by the mares from the faeces of the foals and/or treatment of the foals. Materials in the foal's environment may have been contaminated with erythromycin. The problem of colitis in mares was considered very serious and within a year, the Swedish animal hospitals included in the study replaced erythromycin by gentamicin for treatment of R. equi infection. Since this change in treatment regime, the number of cases of fatal colitis in these mares is now virtually nil. The number of foals investigated in the study was therefore low. Foals treated with gentamicin in combination with rifampicin were also included.

C. difficile or its cytotoxin was demonstrated in faecal samples of 45% of the diarrheic mares. Probably due to accidental ingestion of antibiotics by the mares, their gastrointestinal flora became disturbed, which may have enhanced growth, colonization and toxin production by C. difficile. As foals treated with erythromycin combined with rifampicin were often asymptomatic carriers of C. difficile, they may have served as a potential reservoir. Some mares may also have carried the organism in such low numbers that it was not detectable by routine methods. Another source of infection could be the environment of the animal hospital. In faecal samples of mares that remained healthy, C. difficile was not demonstrated even though their foals often were asymptomatic carriers. It seems as if certain concentration levels of erythromycin in the intestinal lumen are required as a predisposing factor. The etiology of the other 55% of the diseased mares still remains unclear.

Faecal samples from 3 mares proved culture positive, but cytotoxin B negative. To prove that *C. difficile* is the cause of infection, toxin needs to be demonstrated in the faecal sample (Weese *et al.*, 2001a). Due to transportation and/or storage of the samples, the cytotoxin may have become inactivated or present at an undetectably low concentration (McFarland & Stamm 1986).

Association of erythromycin with acute colitis (Paper III)

An experimental study, approved by the Ethical Committee for Animal Experiments, Uppsala, Sweden, was performed. The purpose was to establish whether low oral doses of erythromycin and rifampicin could induce acute colitis in mature horses. To simulate an accidental intake by the mare, a very small dose was given at the same intervals as to foals for treatment. Erythromycin or rifampicin was given alone or in combination. Erythromycin has been described as a risk antibiotic by others (Burrows, 1980; Whitlock, 1986; Roberts, 1990; Murray, 1992; Prescott & Baggot, 1993).

Of 4 horses treated with erythromycin, alone or in combination with rifampicin, 2 developed severe colitis which was fatal in one. One of the diarrheic horses proved positive for *C. difficile* both in culture and in the cytotoxin B test. From the other diarrheic horse, no investigated pathogen was found. Furthermore, *C. perfringens* was isolated in very high numbers (2×10^5 CFU/g faeces) on several consecutive days from the faecal samples of one horse treated with erythromycin only. This horse had loose and foul-smelling faeces. Neither the faecal samples nor the isolates were tested for *C. perfringens* toxins. *C. difficile* and its cytotoxin B were also demonstrated in the fourth horse given 1/10 (0.125 mg/kg) of the

dose given to the horses that developed acute colitis. This horse did not develop diarrhea but had signs of anorexia and was uneasy.

It was amazing that such small amounts of erythromycin (1.25 mg/kg x 3) could induce acute colitis in mature horses. Foals are usually treated with erythromycin 25 mg/kg x 3 in combination with rifampicin 5 mg/kg x 2 for *R. equi* pneumonia. None of the horses treated with rifampicin only developed colitis. Nor was there any detectable change in their intestinal flora. Rifampicin has not been associated with diarrhea (Prescott & Baggot, 1993).

An important finding was that cytotoxin B was demonstrated one day later than the positive cultivation of faecal samples from both C. *difficile* positive horses. Consequently it is important to take samples on consecutive days from horses with C. *difficile* diarrhea.

Clostridium difficile in foals (Paper IV)

An interesting new finding was that *C. difficile* was isolated from 29% of healthy foals, 1-13 days old, whereas all older foals except one proved negative. The foals were asymptomatic carriers as has also been observed in puppies and human infants (Merida *et al.*, 1986; Tullus *et al.*, 1989; Perrin *et al.*, 1993b). A high frequency of asymptomatic carriers was also found in non-diarrheic older foals treated with antibiotics. Cytotoxin B was demonstrated in faecal samples of foals treated with antibiotics. Healthy foals could not be tested for cytotoxin B as the faecal samples were too small. Instead, the isolates were tested for toxin A and B genes. Forty percent of the isolates of healthy foals had both toxin A and B genes. These isolates can serve as a reservoir of toxigenic *C. difficile*.

In studies of outbreaks of diarrhea, C. difficile has been associated with diarrhea in young foals (Jones *et al.*, 1987; 1988b; Magdesian *et al.*, 1999). Weese *et al.* (2001a) also found C. difficile in faecal samples from diarrheic foals. However, the ages of these foals were not reported (Weese *et al.*, 2001a). In this thesis, a high frequency of asymptomatic carriers of C. difficile was found both in healthy foals younger than 14 days and in non-diarrhoiec older foals treated with antibiotics. In the present investigation, the common occurrence of C. difficile is not associated with disease. For further studies, it is important to know the ages of diarrheic and healthy foals and whether the foals were treated with antibiotics to clarify its role in diarrheic disease.

Occurrence and survival of *Clostridium difficile* in the environment (Paper IV)

C. difficile was more commonly isolated from soil samples originating from stud farms than from farms with mature horses. This is consistent with the high carrier rate in foals in comparison with mature horses. The positive samples were from paddocks where the youngest foals were kept together with their dams and also from outside the stable doors. The positive samples were taken both in the spring

and in the autumn. As demonstrated by PCR, some isolates had toxin A and B genes.

At the Veterinary Faculty only 3% of environmental samples were positive. Other studies reported a higher isolation frequency (Riley *et al.*, 1991; Al Saif & Brazier, 1996; Weese *et al.*, 2000a). According to studies in human hospitals it is very difficult to get rid of spores. As there had been horses with *C. difficile* diarrhea at the clinic it was expected to find more positive samples. One reason for the low isolation rate could be the good cleaning regime.

Survival of a sporulated isolate of *C. difficile* in equine faeces was studied experimentally. The spores survived for at least 4 years in nature at ambient temperature and in a jar at room temperature under aerobic conditions. Further testing was not possible prior to the publishing of this thesis.

Antimicrobial susceptibility of *Clostridium difficile* (Papers IV,V)

Etest (Paper IV)

Antimicrobial susceptibility testing of *C. difficile* isolates from horses has been performed mainly by Etest (AB Biodisk, Solna, Sweden) (Jang *et al.*, 1997; Weese *et al.*, 2001a; Paper II; III; IV) and in one study by agar dilution (Jang *et al.*, 1997).

The Etest is simple to perform. However, it was sometimes difficult to read the MICs due to sparse growth. The MIC endpoints of clindamycin and tetracycline for some isolates could not be determined which is why these antibiotics were excluded from the study. The Etest could be a useful tool for the clinician as it is possible in a short time to obtain information as to whether a clinical isolate is susceptible or resistant. In comparison with agar dilution, the MICs of a number of antimicrobial agents for *C. difficile* are reliable, although MICs of metronidazole are often underestimated by the Etest (Rosenblatt & Gustafson, 1995; Barbut *et al.*, 1999; Poilane *et al.*, 2000).

Fourteen of 52 isolates were uniformly resistant to erythromycin (MIC >256 μ g/ml) and rifampicin (MIC >256 μ g/ml). These isolates were from faecal samples from horses at two animal hospitals. At one hospital, three isolates showed this resistance pattern. These were isolated from horses that had been treated with erythromycin combined with rifampicin. The isolates with low MICs (*n*=10) were isolated from horses treated with other antibiotics. At the other animal hospital all ten isolates proved resistant to erythromycin and rifampicin irrespective of which antimicrobial agent was used. Most probably, treatment with these antibiotics selected for the spread of this resistance pattern, especially as erythromycin-resistance genes have been shown to reside on highly mobile genetic elements in *C. difficile* (Mullany *et al.*, 1995).

All isolates included in the study were susceptible to metronidazole and vancomycin. In human medicine, metronidazole is the preferred drug for treatment of *C. difficile* infections. However, metronidazole-resistant isolates have been found in humans and in American horses (Kelly *et al.*, 1994; Jang *et al.*,

1997). Studies by Norén *et al.* (1998) and Svenungsson *et al.* (2001) have also demonstrated susceptibility to metronidazole and vancomycin of most Swedish human isolates.

Broth microdilution (Paper V)

Antimicrobial susceptibility testing of equine and environmental *C. difficile* isolates was performed by broth microdilution. All 50 isolates were tested in duplicate, showing close agreement between tests done in duplicate. For all antimicrobial agents, the MICs did not differ by more than 2 twofold dilutions and for most isolates the MICs were within one twofold dilution.

In the panel there was only one antimicrobial agent, clindamycin, with accepted ranges according to NCCLS (2001). In all tests the MICs of clindamycin for the quality control strains were within recommended ranges (NCCLS, 2001). The MICs of the other antimicrobial agents for the quality control strains were also reproducible in all tests. Thus it was concluded that the test method was reliable. The broth microdilution test was easy to perform and the MIC endpoints were easily read. Furthermore, many antimicrobial agents could be tested in the same panel.

The MICs of erythromycin, oxytetracycline, spiramycin and virginiamycin showed a biphasic distribution. Eighteen isolates had uniformly higher MICs of erythromycin, oxytetracycline, spiramycin and virginiamycin than the other isolates. Interestingly, the isolates with high MICs of erythromycin, spiramycin, virginamycin and tetracycline were mainly isolated from horses at animal hospitals and further from environmental samples at a stud farm. On the other hand, all isolates, except one, from healthy foals and from the soil in public parks had low MICs of these antimicrobial agents.

The elevated MICs of erythromycin and spiramycin may have been due to possession of an *erm* gene. Recently, the macrolide–lincosamide–streptogramin B (MLS_B) resistance determinant from *C. difficile* strain 630 was reported to contain *erm* B genes (Farrow *et al.*, 2000). The resistance to erythromycin, oxytetracycline, spiramycin and virginiamycin seemed to be linked, possibly because of localization on the same genetic element. The transfer of an MLS resistance gene, mediated by a conjugative transposon Tn5398 from *C. difficile*, between *C. difficile* strains and also to and from *Bacillus subtilis*, was reported by Mullany *et al.* (1995). The high mobility of this or a similar transposon, taken together with the impact of the selection pressure from the treatment of foals with erythromycin, may explain the common occurrence of this resistance pattern described above.

The isolates in this study with high MICs of erythromycin, spiramycin and virginiamycin also had high MICs of oxytetracycline and chloramphenicol, an association also described by Delmée & Avesani (1988) and Mullany *et al.* (1995). Furthermore, Delmée and Avesani (1988) found this resistance pattern in toxigenic strains belonging to serogroup C.

Different MICs of trimethoprim/sulfamethoxazole (TMP) for the same *C. difficile* isolates were obtained in Papers IV and V. All isolates analysed by the Etest had high MICs (>32 μ g/ml) of TMP, whereas in broth microdilution the MICs for the majority of isolates were lower (1–4 μ g/ml) and for five isolates above the concentration range tested (>4 μ g/ml). The MICs in broth microdilution had a normal distribution and seemed more reliable than the MICs in the Etest study. The problem is further discussed in Paper V.

In the Etest, Wilkins Chalgren agar with 5% defibrinated horse blood was used. Falsely resistant results of TMP may occur due to excessive amounts of thymine or thymidine and various folates in the media (Indiveri & Hirsch, 1991). Addition of thymidine-phosphorylase or lysed horse blood which contains thymidine-phosphorylase, may improve the results (NCCLS, 1999; Prescott, 2000). The *C. difficile* type strain ATCC 9689 was tested by Etest with Wilkins Chalgren agar supplemented with 5% defibrinated horse blood and with 5% lysed horse blood, respectively. At initial testing, elevated levels of MICs of TMP were obtained with both defibrinated and lysed blood. The reason(s) for the discrepant results reported when determining MICs of TMP need to be further investigated.

General summary

The work described in this thesis is a contribution to increased knowledge of *C*. *difficile* as an etiological factor in antibiotic-associated diarrhea in horses.

It has been shown that:

- C. difficile is associated with acute colitis in mature horses, following treatment with antibiotics;
- most of the horses positive for C. *difficile* were treated with β -lactam antibiotics, alone or often in combination with other antibiotics;
- C. difficile and/or its cytotoxin is associated with acute colitis in mares when their foals are being treated with erythromycin and rifampicin for R. equi infection;
- the colitis in the mares is most likely due to accidental ingestion of erythromycin by the mares.
- in an experimental study, it was demonstrated that low oral intake of erythromycin can induce severe colitis in horses, associated with major changes of the intestinal microflora;
- there is a high frequency of *C. difficile* carriers among healthy neonatal foals and in non-diarrheic older foals treated with antibiotics;
- C. difficile was more common in soil samples from stud farms than from farms with mature horses;
- the presence of toxin A and B genes in isolates of C. *difficile*, as demonstrated by PCR, in both healthy foals and the environment, shows that they can serve as potential reservoirs of toxigenic C. *difficile*;
- the bacteria survived for at least 4 years in nature;
- antimicrobial susceptibility testing demonstrated that isolates were susceptible to metronidazole (MIC ≤4 µg/ml) and vancomycin (MIC ≤1 µg/ml);
- the MICs of erythromycin, oxytetracycline, spiramycin and virginiamycin had a biphasic distribution. All isolates, except three, had either uniformly high or low MICs of these antimicrobial agents;
- routine examination for *C. difficile* and its cytotoxin are recommended in mature horses when diarrhea occurs in combination with antibiotic treatment and further in mares with acute colitis when their foals are treated orally with erythromycin and rifampicin;

- preventive measures to avoid accidental ingestion of erythromycin by mares from the treatment of their foals are recommended;
- the etiology of the main part of acute colitis remains unclear.

Suggestions for future studies

- Study experimental infection of horses with a clinical toxigenic isolate of *C*. *difficile* to ascertain if diarrhea can be induced by this challenge.
- Evaluate rapid immunoassays for detection of *C. difficile* toxins in faecal samples from horses with diarrhea.
- Conduct epidemiological studies on isolates by molecular fingerprinting methods, e.g. PFGE.
- Study possible variation in subtypes of *C. difficile* in individual horses by molecular methods.
- Study pathological changes at necropsy in the intestine of horses with C. *difficile* infection.
- Conduct further study of healthy young foals that are asymptomatic carriers of *C. difficile*, to establish if they can develop diarrhea later.
- Investigate faecal samples from C. difficile-positive foals for cytotoxin B.
- Identify and characterize antimicrobial resistance genes in *C. difficile* and their potential linkage with toxin genes.

References

- Alcantara, C.S. & Guerrant, R.L. 2000. Update on *Clostridium difficile* infection. *Current Gastroenterology Reports 2*, 310-314.
- Al Saif, N. & Brazier, J.S. 1996. The distribution of *Clostridium difficile* in the environment of South Wales. *Journal of Medical Microbiology* 45, 133-137.
- Andersson, G., Ekman, L., Månsson, I., Persson, S., Rubarth, S. & Tufvesson, G. 1971. Lethal complications following administration of oxytetracycline in the horse. Nordisk Veterinärmedicin 23, 9-22.
- Aronsson, B., Möllby, R. & Nord, C.E. 1981. Occurrence of toxin-producing *Clostridium difficile* in antibiotic-associated diarrhea in Sweden. *Medical Microbiology and Immunology* 170, 27-35.
- Aronsson, B., Möllby, R. & Nord, C.E. 1985. Antimicrobial agents and *Clostridium difficile* in acute enteric disease: epidemiological data from Sweden, 1980-1982. *Journal of Infectious Diseases 151*, 476-481.
- Arzese, A., Trani, G., Riul, L. & Botta, G.A. 1995. Rapid polymerase chain reaction method for specific detection of toxigenic *Clostridium difficile*. *European Journal of Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases 14*, 716-719.
- Barbut, F., Decré, D., Burghoffer, B., Lesage, D., Delisle, F., Lalande, V., Delmée, M., Avesani, V., Sano, N., Coudert, C. & Petit, J.C. 1999. Antimicrobial susceptibilities and serogroups of clinical strains of *Clostridium difficile* isolated in France 1991 and 1997. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy* 43, 2607-2611.
- Barbut, F. & Petit, J.-C. 2001. Epidemiology of *Clostridium difficile*-associated infections. *Clinical Microbiology and Infection* 7, 405-410.
- Bartlett, J.G. 1990. Clostridium difficile: Clinical considerations. Reviews of Infectious Diseases 12, (suppl.2) 243-251.
- Bartlett, J.G., Onderdonk, A.B., Cisneros, R.L. & Kasper, D.L. 1977. Clindamycin associated colitis due to a toxin-producing species of *Clostridium* in hamsters. *Journal of Infectious Diseases 136*, 701-705.
- Bartlett, J.G., Chang, T.W., Gurwith, M., Gorbach, S.L. & Onderdonk, A.B. 1978. Antibiotic-associated pseudomembranous colitis due to toxin-producing clostridia. New England Journal of Medicine 298, 531-534.
- Bartley, S.L. & Dowell, V.R. Jr. 1991. Comparison of media for the isolation of Clostridium difficile from faecal specimens. Laboratory Medicine 22, 335-338.
- Beier, R., Amtsberg, G. & Peters, M. 1994. Bakteriologische Untersuchungen zum Vorkommen und zur Bedeutung von *Clostridium difficile* beim Pferd. *Pferdeheilkunde* 10, 3-8.
- Bergey's Manual Trust, Department of Microbiology and Molecular Genetics, Michigan State University, East Lansing, Michigan, USA. (http://www.cme.msu.edu/Bergeys/. Accessed 2-May-2002).
- Berry, A.P. & Levett, P.N. 1986. Chronic diarrhoea in dogs associated with *Clostridium* difficile infection. Veterinary Record 118, 102-103.
- Bidet, P., Barbut, F., Lalande, V., Burghoffer, B. & Petit, J.-C. 1999. Development of a new PCR-ribotyping method for *Clostridium difficile* based on ribosomal RNA gene sequencing. *FEMS Microbiology Letters* 175, 261-266.
- Blawat, F. & Chylinski, G. 1958. Pathogenic clostridia in soil and faeces of domestic animals, in the Gdansk region. Bulletin of the Institute of Marine Medicine in Gdansk 9, 117-126.
- Borriello, S.P. 1998. Pathogenesis of *Clostridium difficile* infection. Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy 41, Suppl. C, 13-19.
- Borriello, S.P. & Honour, P. 1981. Simplified procedure for the routine isolation of *Clostridium difficile* from faeces. *Journal of Clinical Pathology 34*, 1124-1127.

- Borriello, S.P., Honour, P., Turner, T. & Barclay, F. 1983. Household pets as a potential reservoir for *Clostridium difficile* infection. *Journal of Clinical Pathology 36*, 84-87.
- Bowman, R.A. & Riley, T.V. 1986. Isolation of *Clostridium difficile* from stored specimens and comparative susceptibility of various tissue culture cell lines to cytotoxin. *FEMS Microbiology Letters* 34, 31-35.
- Bradley, S.J., Weaver, D.W., Maxwell, N.P. & Bouwman, D.L. 1988. Surgical management of pseudomembranous colitis. *The American Surgeon* 54, 329-532.
- Braun, V., Hundsberger, T., Leukel, P., Sauerborn, M. & von Eichel-Streiber, C. 1996. Definition of the single integration site of the pathogenicity locus in *Clostridium difficile. Gene 181*, 29-38.
- Braun, M., Herholz, C., Straub, R., Choisat, B., Frey, J., Nicolet, J. & Kuhnert, P. 2000. Detection of the ADP-ribosyltransferase toxin gene (*cdtA*) and its activity in *Clostridium difficile* isolates from equidae. *FEMS Microbiology Letters* 184, 29-33.
- Brazier, J.S. 1993. Role of the laboratory in investigations of *Clostridium difficile* diarrhea. *Clinical Infectious Diseases 16*, Suppl. 4. S228-233.
- Brazier, J.S. 1998. The epidemiology and typing of *Clostridium difficile*. Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy 41, Suppl. C, 47-57.
- Brazier, J.S. 2001. Typing of Clostridium difficile. Clinical Microbiology and Infection 7, 428-431.
- Brazier, J.S. & Borriello, S.P. 2000. Microbiology, epidemiology and diagnosis of *Clostridium difficile* infection. In: *Clostridium difficile*. 1st edn. Ed: Aktories, K. and Wilkins, T.D. Springer, Berlin. pp.1-33.
- Brooks, G.F., Butel, J.S., Ornston, L.N., Jawetz, E., Melnick, J.L. & Adelberg, E.A. 1991. Cell Structure. In: *Jawetz, Melnick & Adelberg's Medical Microbiology*. Edn. 19th. Prentice Hall International Limited. London. pp 7-31.
- Buchanan, A.G. 1984. Selective enrichment broth culture for detection of *Clostridium* difficile and associated cytoxin. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 20, 74-76.
- Buggy, B.P., Wilson, K.H. & Fekety, R. 1983. Comparison of methods for recovery of *Clostridium difficile* from an environmental source. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 18, 348-352.
- Buogo, C., Burnens, A.P., Perrin, J. & Nicolet, J. 1995. Presence of Campylobacter spp., Clostridium difficile, C. perfringens and Salmonella in some litters and in a kennel population of adult dogs. Schweizer Archiv für Tierheilkunde 137, 165-171.
- Burrows, G.E. 1980. Pharmacotherapeutics of macrolides, lincomycin and spectinomycin. Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association 176, 1072-1077.
- Carter, G.R., Chengappa, M.M. & Roberts, A.W. 1995. *Clostridium*. In: *Essentials of Veterinary Microbiology*. 5th edn. Ed: Cann, C. Williams & Wilkins, Baltimore. pp 134-141.
- Cato, E.P., George, W.L. & Finegold, S.M. 1986. Genus Clostridium Prazmowski 1880, 23^{AL} In: Bergey's Manual of Systematic Bacteriology, Volume 2. 1st edn. Ed: Sneath, P.H.A., Mair, N.S., Sharpe, M.E. & Holt, J.G. Williams & Wilkins, Baltimore, MD. pp 1141-1142.
- Chang, T.-W., Bartlett, J.G., Gorbach, S.L. & Onderdonk, A.B. 1978. Clindamycin-induced enterocolitis in hamsters as a model of pseudomembranous colitis in patients. *Infection and Immunity 20*, 526-529.
- Cleary, R.K. 1998. Clostridium difficile-associated diarrhea and colitis. Clinical manifestations, diagnosis and treatment. Diseases of the Colon and Rectum 41, 1435-1449.
- Cohen, N.D. & Woods, A.M. 1999. Characteristics and risk factors for failure of horses with acute diarrhea to survive: 122 cases (1990-1996). Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association 214, 382-390.
- Collins, M.D., Lawson, P.A., Willems, A., Cordoba, J.J., Fernandez-Garayzabal, J., Garcia, P., Cai, J., Hippe, H. & Farrow, J.A.E. 1994. The phylogeny of the genus *Clostridium*:

Proposal of five new gerera and eleven new species combinations. International Journal of Systematic Bacteriology 44, 812-826.

- Cosmetatos, I., Perrin, J., Gallusser, A., Nicolet, J. & Straub, R. 1994. Faecal isolation of *Clostridium difficile* and its toxins from horses with typhlo-colitis. *7th Intern. Conference on Equine Infectious Diseases,* June 8-11, 1994, Tokyo, Japan. Poster session 69.
- Delmée, M. 2001. Laboratory diagnosis of Clostridium difficile disease. Clinical Microbiology and Infection 7, 411-416.
- Delmée, M., Homel, M. & Wauters, G. 1985. Serogrouping of *Clostridium difficile* strains by slide agglutination. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology 21*, 323-327.
- Delmée, M. & Avesani, V. 1988. Correlation between serogroup and susceptibility to chloramphenicol, clindamycin, erythromycin, rifampicin and tetracycline among 308 isolates of *Clostridium difficile*. Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy 22, 325-331.
- Divers, T.J. 2002. Postoperative complications-colitis, Clostridial diarrhea in adult horses, acute diarrhea in adult horses-other causes, Clostridial enterocolitis in foals. In: *Manual of Equine Gastroenterology*. 1st edn. Ed: Mair, T., Divers, T. and Ducharme, N. WB Saunders. pp 230-232, 410-412, 422-425, 499-502.
- Donaldson, M.T. & Palmer J.E. 1999. Prevalence of *Clostridium perfringens* enterotoxin and *Clostridium difficile* toxin A in faeces of horses with diarrhea and colic. *Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association 3*, 358-361.
- Ehrich, M., Perry, B.D., Troutt, F. Dellers, R.W. & Magnusson, R.A. 1984. Acute diarrhea in horses of the Potomac River area: Examination for clostridial toxins. *Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association 185*, 433-435.
- Eld, K., Gunnarsson, A., Holmberg, T., Hurvell, B. & Wierup, M. 1991. Salmonella isolated from animals and feedstuffs in Sweden during 1983-1987. Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica 32, 261-277.
- Ensink, J.M. 1996. Side effects of oral antimicrobial agents in the horse; a comparison of pivampicillin and trimethoprim-sulfadiazine. *Veterinary Record 138*, 253-256.
- Farrell, R.J. & LaMont, J.T. 2000. Pathogenesis and clinical manifestations of *Clostridium difficile* diarrhea and colitis. In: *Clostridium difficile*. 1st edn. Ed: Aktories, K. and Wilkins, T.D. Springer, Berlin. pp.109-125.
- Farrow, K.A., Lyras, D. & Rood, J.I. 2000. The macrolide-lincosamide-streptogramin B resistance determinant from C. difficile 630 contains two *erm* (B) genes. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy* 44, 411-413.
- Fekety, R. 1995. Antibiotic-associated diarrhea and colitis. Current Opinion of Infectious Diseases 8, 391-397.
- Fekety, R., Silva, J., Toshniwal, R., Allo, M., Armstrong, J., Browne, R., Ebright, J. & Rifkin, G. 1979. Antibiotic-associated colitis: Effects of antibiotics on *Clostridium difficile* and the disease in hamsters. *Reviews of Infectious Diseases 1*, 386-397.
- Fekety, R., Kim, K.-H., Brown, D., Batts, D.H., Cudmore, M. & Silva, J. Jr. 1981. Epidemiology of antibiotic-associated colitis. Isolation of *Clostridium difficile* from the hospital environment. *The American Journal of Medicine 70*, 906-908.
- Fekety, R. & Shah, A.B. 1993. Diagnosis and treatment of *Clostridium difficile* colitis. Journal of the American Medical Association 269, 71-75.
- Frazier, K.S., Herron, A.J., Hines II, M.E., Gaskin, J.M. & Altman, N.H. 1993. Diagnosis of enteritis and enterotoxemia due to *Clostridium difficile* in captive ostriches (*Struthio camelus*). Journal of Veterinary Diagnostic Investigation 5, 623-625.
- Frost, F., Craun, G.F. & Calderon, R.L. 1998. Increasing hospitalization and death possibly due to *Clostridium difficile* diarrheal disease. *Emerging Infectious Diseases 4*, 619-625.
- George, R.H & Symonds, J.M. 1978. Identification of *Clostridium difficile* as a cause of pseudomembranous colitis. *British Medical Journal 1*, 695.
- George, W.L., Sutter, V.L., Goldstein, E.J., Ludwig, S.L. & Finegold, S.M. 1978. Aetiology of antimicrobial-agent-associated colitis. *Lancet i*, 802-803.

- George, W.L., Sutter, V.L., Citron, D. & Finegold, S.M. 1979a. Selective and differential medium for isolation of *Clostridium difficile*. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 9, 214-219.
- George, W.L., Kirby, B.D., Sutter, V.L. & Finegold, S.M. 1979b. Antimicrobial susceptibility of *Clostridium difficile*. *Microbiology (Wash., D.C.)*, 267-271.
- Gerding, D.N., Olson, M.M., Peterson, L.R., Teasley, D.G., Gebhard, R.L., Schwartz, M.L. & Lee, J.T. Jr. 1986. *Clostridium difficile*-associated diarrhea and colitis in adults. A prospective case-controlled epidemiologic study. *Archives of Internal Medicine 146*, 95-100.
- Gottschalk, G., Andreesen, J.R. & Hippe, H. 1981. The genus *Clostridium*. In: The Prokaryotes, a handbook on the habitats, isolation and identification of bacteria. Ed: Starr, Stolp, Trüper, Balows & Schlegel. Springer-Verlag, Berlin. pp. 1767-1803.
- Green, R.H. 1974. The association of viral activation with penicillin toxicity in guinea pigs and hamsters. The Yale Journal of Biology and Medicine 3, 166-181.
- Gumerlock, P.H., Tang, Y.J., Weiss, J.B. & Silva, J. 1993. Specific detection of toxigenic strains of *Clostridium difficile* in stool specimens. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology 31*, 507-511.
- Hafiz, S. 1974. *Clostridium difficile* and its toxins. Thesis PhD. Department of Microbiology, University of Leeds.
- Hafiz, S. & Oakley, C.L. 1976. Clostridium difficile: isolation and characteristics. Journal of Medical Microbiology 9, 129-136.
- Hall, I.C. & O'Toole, E. 1935. Intestinal flora in newborn infants with a description of a new pathogenic anaerobe, *Bacillus difficilis. American Journal of Diseases of Children* 49, 390-402.
- Hecht, G., Koutsouris, A., Pothoulakis, C., LaMont, J.T. & Madara, J.L. 1992. *Clostridium difficile* toxin B disrupts the barrier function of T84 monolayers, *Gastroenterology 102*, 416-423.
- Herholz, C., Miserez, R., Nicolet, J., Frey, J., Popoff, M., Gibert, M., Gerber, H. & Straub, R. 1999. Prevalence of β2-toxigenic *Clostridium perfringens* in horses with intestinal disorders. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 37, 358-361.
- Hibbs, C.M., Johnson, D.R., Reynolds, K. & Harrington, R. Jr. 1977. Clostridium sordellii isolated from foals. Veterinary Medicine, Small Animal Clinician 72; 256-258.
- Holdeman, L.V., Cato, E.P. & Moore W.E.C. 1977. *Anaerobe Laboratory Manual.* 4th edn. Virginia Polytechnic Institute Anaerobe Laboratory, Blacksburg, Virginia.
- Indiveri, M.C. & Hirsch, D.C. 1991. Suitability of the broth-disk elution test for evaluating susceptibility of obligate anaerobes to trimethoprim-sulfonamides. *Journal of Veterinary Diagnostic Investigation 3*, 215-217.
- Jang, S.S., Hansen, L.M., Breher, J.E., Riley, D.A., Magdesian, K.G., Madigan, J.E., Tang, Y.J., Silva, JR, J., & Hirsh, D.C. 1997. Antimicrobial susceptibilities of equine isolates of *Clostridium difficile* and molecular characterization of metronidazole-resistant strains. *Clinical Infectious Diseases* 25 (Suppl 2):S266-267.
- Job, M. & Jacobs N. 1997. Drug-induced Clostridium difficile-associated disease. Drug Safety 17, 37-46.
- Johnson, J.L. & Francis, B.S. 1975. Taxonomy of the Clostridia: Ribosomal ribonucleic acid homologies among the species. *Journal of General Microbiology 88, 229-244.*
- Johnson, S., Samore, M.H., Farrow, K.A., Killgore, G.E., Tenover, F.C., Lyras, D., Rood, J.I., DeGirolami, P., Baltch, A.L., Rafferty, M.E., Pear, S.M. & Gerding, D.N. 1999. Epidemics of diarrhea caused by a clindamycin-resistant strain of *Clostridium difficile* in four hospitals. *The New England Journal of Medicine 341*, 1645-1651.
- Jones, R.L. 2000. Clostridial enterocolitis. Veterinary Clinics of North America 16, 471-485.

- Jones, R.L., Adney, W.S. & Shideler, R.K. 1987. Isolation of *Clostridium difficile* and detection of cytotoxin in the feces of diarrheic foals in the absence of antimicrobial treatment. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology 25*, 1225-1227.
- Jones, R.L., Adney, W.S., Alexander, A.F., Shideler, R.K. & Traub-Dargatz, J.L. 1988a. Hemorrhagic necrotizing enterocolitis associated with *Clostridium difficile* infection in four foals. *Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association 193*, 76-79.
- Jones, R.L., Shideler, R.K. & Cockerell, G.L. 1988b. Association of *Clostridium difficile* with foal diarrhea. In: *Proc. 5th International Conference on Equine Infectious Diseases,* Lexington, Kentucky. University Press of Kentucky, Lexington. pp. 236-240.
- Jones, R.L. 1989. Diagnostic procedures for isolation and characterization of *Clostridium* difficile associated with enterocolitis in foals. *Journal of Veterinary Diagnostic Investigation 1*, 84-86.
- Jones, S.L. & Wilson, W.D. 1993. Clostridium septicum septicemia in a neonatal foal with hemorrhagic enteritis. The Cornell Veterinarian 83, 143-151.
- Jukes, T. H. and Cantor, C. R. 1969. Evolution of protein molecules. In: *Mammalian Protein Metabolism.* Ed. Munro, H. H. Academic Press, New York. pp. 21-132.
- Jumaa, P., Wren, B. & Tabaqchali, S. 1996. Epidemiology and typing of *Clostridium* difficile. European Journal of Gastroenterology & Hepatology 8, 1035-1040.
- Just, I., Hofmann, F. & Aktories, K. 2000. Molecular mode of action of the large clostridial cytotoxins. In: *Clostridium difficile*. 1st edn. Ed: Aktories, K. and Wilkins, T.D. Springer, Berlin. pp.55-83.
- Karasawa, T., Nojiri, T., Hayashi, Y., Maegawa, T., Yamakawa, K., Wang X.M. & Nakamura, S. 1999. Laboratory diagnosis of toxigenic *Clostridium difficile* by polymerase chain reaction; presence of toxin genes and their stable expression in toxigenic isolates from Japanese individuals. *Journal of Gastroenterology* 34, 41-45.
- Kato, N., Ou, C.Y., Kato, H., Bartley, S., Brown, V.K., Dowell, V.R.Jr. & Ueno, K. 1991. Identification of toxigenic *Clostridium difficile* by the polymerase chain reaction. *Journal* of *Clincal Microbiology* 29, 33-37.
- Kato, N., Ou, C.Y., Kato, H., Bartley, S.L., Luo, C.C., Killgore, G.E. & Ueno, K. 1993. Detection of toxigenic *Clostridium difficile* in stool specimens by the polymerase chain reaction. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases* 167, 455-458.
- Kato, H., Kato, N., Watanabe, K., Iwai, N., Nakamura, H., Yamamoto, T., Suzuki, K., Kim, S.-M., Chong, Y. & Wasito, E.B. 1998. Identification of toxin A-negative, toxin Bpositive Clostridium difficile by PCR. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 36, 2178-2182.
- Kelly, C.P. & LaMont, J.T. 1998. Clostridium difficile infection. Annual Review of Medicine 49, 375-390.
- Kelly, C.P., Pothoulakis, C. & LaMont, J.T. 1994. Clostridium difficile colitis. New England Journal of Medicine 330, 257-262.
- Killgore, G.E. & Kato, H. 1994. Use of arbitrary primer PCR to type *Clostridium difficile* and comparison of results with those by immunoblot typing. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology 32*, 1591-1593.
- Kim, K.-H., Fekety, R., Batts, D.H., Brown, D., Cudmore, M., Silva, J. Jr. & Waters, D. 1981. Isolation of *Clostridium difficile* from the environment and contacts of patients with antibiotic-associated colitis. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases 143*, 42-50.
- Klaassen, C.H.W., van Haren, H.A & Horrevorts, A.M. 2002. Molecular fingerprinting of *Clostridium difficile* isolates: pulsed-field gel electrophoresis versus amplified fragment length polymorphism. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 40, 101-104.
- Kristjánsson, M., Samore, M.H., Gerding, D.N., DeGirolami, P.C., Bettin, K.M., Karchmer, A.W. & Arbeit, R.D. 1994. Comparison of restiction endonuclease analysis, ribotyping, and pulsed-field gel electrophoresis for molecular differentiation of *Clostridium difficile* strains. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology 32*, 1963-1969.
- Larson, H.E., Price, A.B., Honour, P. & Borriello, S.P. 1978. *Clostridium difficile* and the aethiology of pseudomembranous colitis. *Lancet i*, 1063-1066.

- Larson, H.E., Barclay, F.E., Honour, P. & Hill, I.D. 1982. Epidemiology of Clostridium difficile in infants. Journal of Infectious Diseases 146, 727-733.
- Levett, P.N. 1984. Use of enrichment cultures for the isolation of *Clostridium difficile* from stools. *Microbios Letters 25*, 67-69.
- Levett, P.N. 1985. Effect of antibiotic concentration in a selective medium on the isolation of *Clostridium difficile* from faecal specimens. *Journal of Clinical Pathology* 38, 233-234.
- Lyerly, D.M. 1995. Clostridium difficile testing. Clinical Microbiology Newsletter 17, 17-22.
- Lyerly, D.M., Lockwood, D.E., Richardson, S.H. & Wilkins, T.D. 1982. Biological activities of toxins A and B of *Clostridium difficile*. *Infection and Immunity 35*, 1147-1150.
- Lyerly, D.M., Saum, K.E., MacDonald, D.K. & Wilkins, T.D. 1985. Effects of Clostridium difficile toxins given intragastrically to animals. *Infection and Immunity* 47, 349-352.
- Lyerly, D.M., Krivan, H.C. & Wilkins, T.D. 1988. Clostridium difficile: Its disease and toxins. Clinical Microbiology Reviews 1, 1-18.
- Lyerly, D.M., Neville, L.M., Evans, D.T., Fill, J., Allen, S., Greene, W., Sautter, R. Hnatuck, P., Torpey, D.J. & Schwalbe, R. 1998. Multicenter evaluation of the *Clostridium difficile* TOX A/B test. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 36, 184-190.
- Madewell, B.R., Tang, Y.J., Jang, S., Madigan, J.E., Hirsh, D.C., Gumerlock, P.H. & Silva J. 1995. Apparent outbreak of *Clostridium difficile*-associated diarrhea in horses in a veterinary medical teaching hospital. *Journal of Veterinary Diagnostic Investigation* 7, 343-346.
- Madewell, B.R., Bea, J.K., Kraegel, S.A., Winthrop, M., Tang, Y.J. & Silva, J.Jr. 1999. *Clostridium difficile*: a survey of fecal carriage in cats in a veterinary medical teaching hospital. *Journal of Veterinary Diagnostic Investigation 11*, 50-54.
- Magdesian, K.G., Madigan, J.E., Hirsh, D.C., Jang, S.S., Tang, Y.J., Carpenter, T.E., Hansen, L.M. & Silva, J. Jr. 1997. *Clostridium difficile* and horses: a review. *Reviews in Medical Microbiology* 8 (Suppl 1), S46-S48.
- Magdesian, K.G., Hirsh, D.C., Jang, S.S. & Madigan, J.E. 1999. Characterisation of *Clostridium difficile* isolates from an outbreak of enteritis in neonatal foals. In: *Proc. Eighth International Conference on Equine Infectious Diseases*, Dubai, 23rd-26th March, 1998. 1st edn. Ed: Wernery, U., Wade, J.F., Mumford, J.A. and Kaaden, O.-R. R & W Publications (Newmarket) Limited. pp. 561-562.
- Mair, T.S., de Westerlaken, L.V., Cripps, P.J. & Love, S. 1990. Diarrhoea in adult horses: A survey of clinical cases and an assessment of some prognostic indices. *Veterinary Record* 126, 479-481.
- Malmqvist, M., Jacobsson, K.-G., Häggblom, P., Cerenius, F., Sjöland, L. & Gunnarsson, A. 1995. Salmonella isolation from animals and feedstuffs in Sweden during 1988-1992. Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica 36, 21-39.
- Martirossian, G., Sokol-Leszcynska, B., Mierzejewski, J. & Meisel-Mikolajczyk, F. 1992. Occurence of *Clostridium difficile* in the digestive system of dogs. *Medycyna Doswiadczalna i Mikrobiologia 44*, 49-54.
- Mayfield, J.L., Leet, T., Miller, J. & Mundy, M.M. 2000. Environmental control to reduce transmission of *Clostridum difficile*. *Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology* 31, 995-1000.
- McFarland, L.V. & Stamm, W.E. 1986. Review of *Clostridium difficile*-associated diseases. *American Journal of Infection Control 14*, 99-109.
- McFarland, L.V., Mulligan, M.E., Kwok, R.Y.Y. & Stamm, W.E. 1989. Nosocomial acquisition of *Clostridium difficile* infection. *The New England Journal of Medicine 4*, 204-210.

- McFarland, L.V., Surawicz, C.M. & Stamm, W.E. 1990. Risk factors for *Clostridium* difficile carriage and *C. difficile*-associated diarrhea in a cohort of hospitalized patients. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases 162*, 678-684.
- McGowan, K.L. & Kader, H.A. 1999. Clostridium difficile infection in children. Clinical Microbiology Newsletter 21, 49-53.
- McMillan, D., Muldrow, L. & Laggette, S. 1992. Simultaneous detection of toxin A and toxin B genetic determinants of *Clostridium difficile* using the multiplex polymerase chain reaction. *Canadian Journal of Microbiology 38*, 81-83.
- Melcher, S.A. & Moyer, K.A. 1995. Clostridium difficile-associated disease. Clinician Reviews 5, 75-92.
- Merida, V., Moerman, J., Colaert, J., Lemmens, P. & Vandepitte, J. 1986. Significance of *Clostridium difficile* and its cytotoxin in children. *European Journal of Pediatrics 144*, 494-496.
- Mitty, R.D. & LaMont, J.T. 1994. Clostridium difficile diarrhea; pathogenesis, epidemiology and treatment. The Gastroenterologist 2, 61-69.
- Moncrief, J.S. & Wilkins, T.D. 2000. Genetics of *Clostridium difficile* toxins. In: *Clostridium difficile*. 1st edn. Ed: Aktories, K. and Wilkins, T.D. Springer, Berlin. pp.35-54.
- Mullany, P., Wilks, M. & Tabaqchali, S. 1995. Transfer of macrolide-lincosamidestreptogramin B (MLS) resistance in *Clostridium difficile* is linked to a gene homologous with toxin A and is mediated by a conjugative transposon, Tn5398. *The Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy 35*, 305-315.
- Mulligan, M.E., Rolfe, R.D. Finegold, S.M. & George W.L. 1979. Contamination of hospital environment by *Clostridium difficile*. *Current Microbiology* 3, 173-175.
- Murray, M.J. 1992. Acute colitis. In: *Current Therapy in Equine Medicine 3*, 1st edn. Ed: N.E. Robinson. W.B. Saunders Company, Philadelphia. pp. 244-250.
- Möllby, R., Nord, C.E. & Aronsson, B. 1980. Diagnosis of *Clostridium difficile*-associated enterocolitis in Sweden. Laboratory and epidemiological aspects. *Scandinavian Journal* of *Infectious Diseases*, Suppl 22, 30-36.
- Möllby, R., Aronsson, B. & Nord, C.E. 1985. Pathogenisis and diagnosis of *Clostridium* difficile enterocolitis. Scandinavian Journal of Infectious Diseases, Suppl 46, 47-56.
- Nakamura, S., Mikawa, M. Nakashio, S., Takabatake, M. Okada, I. & Yamakawa, K. 1981. Isolation of *Clostridium difficile* from feces and the antibody in sera of young and elderly adults. *Microbiology and Immunology* 25, 345-351.
- Nakamura, S., Nakashio, S., Mikawa, M., Yamakawa, K., Okumura, S. & Nishida, S. 1982. Antimicrobial susceptibility of *Clostridium difficile* from different sources. *Microbiology* and Immunology 26, 25-30.
- National Committee for Clinical Laboratory Standards 1997. Methods for antimicrobial susceptibility testing of anaerobic bacteria: approved standard, document M11-A4. 4th edn. Villanova, Pennsylvania.
- National Committee for Clinical Laboratory Standards. 1999. Performance standards for antimicrobial disk and dilution susceptibility tests for bacteria isolated from animals; approved standard, document M31-A. Vol. 19. National Committee for Clinical Laboratory Standards, Wayne, Pennsylvania.
- National Committee for Clinical Laboratory Standards 2001. Methods for antimicrobial susceptibility testing of anaerobic bacteria: approved standard, document M11-A5. 5th edn. Vol. 21. Wayne, Pennsylvania.
- Norén, T., Vikerfors, T. & Sjöberg, L. 1998. Evaluation of microbiological resistance in clinical isolates of *Clostridium difficile* 1993-1997. 2nd World Congress on Anaerobic Bacteria and Infections, Nice, France.
- Ochoa, R. & Kern, S.R. 1980. The effects of *Clostridium perfringens* type A enterotoxin in Shetland ponies clinical, morphologic and clinicopathologic changes. *Veterinary Pathology* 17, 738-747.

- O'Connor, D., Hynes, P., Cormican, M., Collins, E., Corbett-Feeney, G. & Cassidy, M. 2001. Evaluation of methods for detection of toxins in specimens of feces submitted for diagnosis of *Clostridium difficile*-associated diarrhea. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 39, 2846-2849.
- O'Neill, G.L., Ogunsola, F.T., Brazier, J.S. & Duerden, B.I. 1996. Modification of a PCR ribotyping method for application as a routine typing scheme for *Clostridium difficile*. *Anaerobe 2*, 205-209.
- Palmer, J.E. 1992. Diarrhea. In: Veterinary Gastroenterology, 2nd edn. Ed: N.V. Anderson. Lea & Febiger, Philadelphia. pp 646-654.
- Perrin, J., Cosmetatos, I., Gallusser, A., Lobsiger, L., Straub, R. & Nicolet, J. 1993a. Clostridium difficile associated with typhlocolitis in an adult horse. Journal of Veterinary Diagnostic Investigation 5, 99-101.
- Perrin, J., Buogo, C., Gallusser, A., Burnens, A.P. and Nicolet, J. 1993b. Intestinal carriage of *Clostridium difficile* in neonate dogs. *Journal of Veterinary Medicine* B 40, 222-226.
- Poilane, I., Cruaud, P., Torlotin, J.C. & Collignon, A. 2000. Comparison of the E test to the reference agar dilution method for antibiotic susceptibility testing of *Clostridium difficile*. *Clinical Microbiology and Infection 6*, 154-156.
- Prescott, J.F., Staempfli, H.R., Barker, I.K., Bettoni, R. & Delaney K. 1988. A method for reproducing fatal idiopathic colitis (colitis x) in ponies and isolation of a clostridium as a possible agent. *Equine Veterinary Journal 20*, 417-420.
- Prescott, J.F. 2000. Sulfonamides, diaminopyrimidines and their combinations. In: Antimicrobial Therapy in Veterinary Medicine, 3rd edn. Ed: J.F. Prescott, J.D. Baggot & R.D. Walker. Iowa State University Press, Ames, USA. p.306.
- Prescott, J.F. & Baggot, J.D. 1993. Lincosamides and macrolides. Antimicrobial drugs that inhibit nucleic acid function. In: *Antimicrobial Therapy in Veterinary Medicine*, 2nd edn. Ed: J.F. Prescott and J.D. Baggot. Iowa State University press, Ames. pp 187-191, 280-285, 410-413.
- Priest, F. & Austin, B. 1993. Modern Bacterial Taxonomy. Chapman and Hall, London, UK.
- Quinn, P.J., Carter, M.E., Markey, B. & Carter, G.R. Clostridium species. 1994. In: Clinical Veterinary Microbiology, London. Wolfe Publishing, Mosby-Year Book Europe Limited. pp 191-208.
- Raisbeck, M.F., Holt, G.F. & Osweiler, G.D. 1981. Lincomycin-associated colitis in horses. Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association 179, 362-363.
- Rehg, J.E. & Lu, Y.-S. 1981. Clostridium difficile in a rabbit following antibiotic therapy for pasteurellosis. Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association 179, 1296-1297.
- Rehg, J.E. & Pakes, S.P. 1981. *Clostridium difficile* antitoxin neutralization of cecal toxin(s) from guinea pigs with penicillin-associated colitis. *Laboratory Animal Science 31*, 156-160.
- Riegler, M., Sedivy, R., Pothoulakis, C., Hamilton, G. Zacherl, J., Bischof, G., Cosentini, E., Feil, W., Schiessel, R. & LaMont, J.T. 1995. *Clostridium difficile* toxin B is more potent than toxin A in damaging human colonic epithelium in vitro. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation 95*, 2004-2011.
- Riley, T.V., Adams, J.E., O'Neill, G.L. & Bowman, R.A. 1991. Gastrointestinal carriage of *Clostridium difficile* in cats and dogs attending veterinary clinics. *Epidemiology and Infection, 107, 659-665.*
- Roberts, M.C. 1990. Acute equine colitis: experimental and clinical perspectives. *Vet. Ann.* 30, 1-11.
- Rosenblatt, J.E. & Gustafsson, D.R. 1995. Evaluation of the Etest for susceptibility testing of anaerobic bacteria. *Diagnostic Microbiology and Infectious Disease 22*, 279-284.
- Rothman, S.W. 1981. Presence of *Clostridium difficile* toxin in guinea pigs with penicillinassociated colitis. *Medical Microbiology and Immunology 169*, 187-196.

- Rupnik, M. 2001a. How to detect *Clostridium difficile* variant strains in a routine laboratory. *Clinical Microbiology and Infection* 7, 417-420.
- Rupnik, M., Brazier, J.S., Duerden, B.I., Grabnar, M. & Stubbs, S.L.J. 2001b. Comparison of toxinotyping and PCR ribotyping of *Clostridium difficile* strains and description of novel toxinotypes. *Microbiology* 147, 439-447.
- Rupnik, M., Avesani, V., Janc, M., von Eichel-Streiber, C. & Delmée, M. 1998. A novel toxinotyping scheme and correlation of toxinotypes with serogroups of *Clostridium difficile* isolates. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 36, 2240-2247.
- Sage, R. 1998. Nosocomial infections: listening to human experince may help the horse. *Equine Veterinary Journal 30*, 450-451.
- Samore, M.H., Kristjansson, M., Venkataraman, L., DeGirolami, P.C. & Arbeit, R.D. 1996. Comparison of arbitrarily-primed polymerase chain reaction, restiction enzyme analysis and pulsed-field gel electrophoresis for typing *Clostridium difficile*. *Journal of Microbiological Methods 25*, 215-224.
- Saitou, N. & Nei, M. 1987. The neighbor-joining method: a new method for reconstructing phylogenetic trees. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* 4, 406-25.
- Silva, S. 1994. Clostridium difficile nosocomial infections still lethal and persistant. Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology 15, 368-370.
- Silva, J.Jr., Tang, Y.J. & Gumerlock, P.H. 1994. Genotyping of Clostridium difficile isolates. The Journal of Infectious Diseases 169, 661-664.
- Smith, B.P. 1991. Salmonellosis. In: Large Animal Internal Medicine, 1st edn. St. Louis, CV Mosby Co. pp 818-822.
- Snyder, M.L. 1940. The normal fecal flora of infants between two weeks and one year of age. I. Serial studies. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases 66*, 1-16.
- Spencer, R.C. 1998a. Clinical impact and associated costs of Clostridium difficile-associated disease. Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy 41, Suppl. C, 5-12.
- Spencer, R.C. 1998b. The role of antimicrobial agents in the aethiology of *Clostridium* difficile-associated disease. Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy 41, Suppl. C, 21-27.
- Stackebrandt, E. & Rainey, F.A. 1997. Phylogenetic relationships. In: *The Clostridia Molecular Biology and Pathogenesis*. 1st edn. Ed: Rood, J.I., McClane, B.A., Songer, J.G. & Titball, R.W. Academic Press, San Diego, California.
- Staempfli, H.R., Townsend, H.G.G. & Prescott, J.F. 1991. Prognostic features and clinical presentation of acute idiopathic enterocolitis in horses. *Canadian Veterinary Journal 32*, 232-237.
- Staempfli, H.R., Prescott, J.F. & Brash, M.L. 1992. Lincomycin-induced severe colitis in ponies: Association with *Clostridium cadaveris*. *Canadian Journal of Veterinary Research 56*, 168-169.
- Struble, A.L., Tang, Y.J., Kass, P.H., Gumerlock, P.H., Madewell, B.R. & Silva, J. Jr. 1994. Fecal shedding of *Clostridium difficile* in dogs: a period prevalence survey in a veterinary medical teaching hospital. *Journal of Veterinary Diagnostic Investigation 6*, 342-347.
- Stubbens, D.P. 1990. Clostridium perfringens enterotoxaemia in two young horses. Veterinary Record 127, 431.
- Stubbs, S.L.J., Brazier, J.S., O'Neill, G.L. & Duerden, B.I. 1999. PCR targeted to the 16S-23S rRNA gene intergenic spacer region of *Clostridium difficile* and construction of a library consisting of 116 different PCR ribotypes. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 37, 461-463.
- Stubbs, S., Rupnik, M., Gibert, M., Brazier, J., Duerden, B. & Popoff, M. 2000. Production of actin-specific ADP-ribosyltransferase (binary toxin) by strains of *Clostridium difficile*. *FEMS Microbiology Letters* 186, 307-312.
- Svenungsson, B., Lagergren, Å. & Lundberg, A. 2001. Clostridium difficile cytotoxin B in adults with diarrhea: a comparison of patients treated or not treated with antibiotics prior to infection. Clinical Microbiology and Infection 7, 447-450.

- Tabaqchali, S. & Jumaa, P. 1995. Diagnosis and management of *Clostridium difficile* infection. *British Medical Journal 310*, 1375-1380.
- Tang, Y.J., Houston, S.T., Gumerlock, P.H., Mulligan, M.E., Gerding, D.N., Johnson, S., Fekety, F.R. & Silva, J. Jr. 1995. Comparison of arbitrarily primed PCR with restriction endonuclease and immunoblot analyses for typing *Clostridium difficile* isolates. *Journal* of *Clinical Microbiology* 33, 3169-3173.
- Tedesco, F.J., Barton, R.W. & Alpers, D.H. 1974. Clindamycin-associated colitis. Annals of Internal Medicine 81, 429-433.
- Thelestam, M. & Chaves-Olarte, E. 2000. In: *Clostridium difficile*. 1st edn. Ed: Aktories, K. and Wilkins, T.D. Springer, Berlin. pp. 85-96.
- TIGR Microbial Database, 2002. TIGR, The Institute for Genomic Research. Rockville, MD, USA. (http://www.tigr.org/tdb/mbd/mdbinprogress.html: Accessed 15-April-2002).
- Traub-Dargatz J.L. & Jones, R.L. 1993. Clostridia-associated enterocolitis in adult horses and foals. *The Veterinary Clinics of North America* 9, 411-421.
- Tullus, K., Aronsson, B., Marcus, S. & Möllby, R. 1989. Intestinal colonization with Clostridium difficile in infants up to 18 months of age. European Journal of Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases 8, 390-393.
- Vandamme, P., Pot, B., Gillis, M., De Vos, P., Kersters, K. & Swings, J. 1996. Polyphasic taxonomy, a consensus approach to bacterial systematics. *Microbiological Reviews* 60, 407-438.
- Vaughan, J.T. 1973. The acute colitis syndrome. Colitis X. The Veterinary Clinics of North America 3, 301-313.
- Vollaard, E.J. & Clasener, H.A.L. 1994. Colonization resistance. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy 38, 409-414.
- Weber, A., Kroth, P. & Heil, G. 1989. Occurrence of *Clostridium difficile* in fecal samples of dogs and cats. *Zentralblatt für Veterinärmedicin* [B] 36, 568-76.
- Weese, J.S., Staempfli, H.R. & Prescott, J.F. 2000a. Isolation of environmental Clostridium difficile from a veterinary teaching hospital. Journal of Veterinary Diagnostic Investigation 12, 449-452.
- Weese, J.S., Staempfli, H.R. & Prescott, J.F. 2000b. Survival of Clostridium difficile and its toxins in equine faeces. Journal of Veterinary Diagnostic Investigation 12, 332-336.
- Weese, J.S., Staempfli, H.R. & Prescott, J.F. 2001a. A prospective study of the roles of *Clostridium difficile* and enterotoxigenic *Clostridium perfringens* in equine diarrhoea. *Equine Veterinary Journal 33*, 403-409.
- Weese, J.S., Staempfli, H.R., Prescott, J.F., Kruth, S.A., Greenwood, S.J. & Weese, H.E. 2001b. The roles of *Clostridium difficile* and enterotoxigenic *Clostridium perfringens* in diarrhea in dogs. *Journal of Veterinary Internal Medicine* 15, 374-378.
- Whitlock, R.H. 1986. Colitis: differential diagnosis and treatment. Equine Veterinary Journal 18, 278-283.
- Wierup, M. 1977. Equine intestinal clostridiosis, an acute disease of horses associated with high intestinal counts of *Clostridium perfringens* type A. Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica (Supplementum) 62, 1-182.
- Wierup, M. & DiPietro, J.A. 1981. Bacteriologic examination of equine fecal flora as a diagnostic tool for equine intestinal clostridiosis. *American Journal of Veterinary Research* 42, 2167-2169.
- Wilson, K.H., Kennedy, M.J. & Fekety, F.R. 1982. Use of sodium taurocholate to enhance spore recovery on a medium selective for *Clostridium difficile*. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 15, 443-446.
- Wilson, W.D. 1992. Foal pneumonia: An overview. In: Proceedings of the thirty-eighth Annual Convention of the American Association of Equine Practitioners. Ed: Caddel, L.B. pp. 203-229.

- Wolfhagen, M.J., Fluit, A.C., Torensma, R., Poppelier, M.J. & Verhoef J. 1994. Rapid detection of toxigenic *Clostridium difficile* in fecal samples by magnetic immuno-PCR assay. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 32, 1629-33.
- Wong, S.S., Woo, P.C., Luk, W.K. & Yuen, K.Y. 1999. Susceptibility testing of Clostridium difficile against metronidazole and vancomycin by disk diffusion and Etest. Diagnostic Microbiology and Infectious Disease 34, 1-6.
- Worsley, M.A. 1998. Infection control and prevention of *Clostridium difficile* infection. Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy 41, Suppl. C, 59-66.
- Wren, B., Clayton, C. & Tabaqchali, S. 1990. Rapid identification of toxigenic *Clostridium* difficile by polymerase chain reaction. *Lancet 335*, 423.
- Wüst, J. & Hardegger, U. 1988. Studies on the resistance of *Clostridium difficile* to antimicrobial agents. Zentralblatt für Bakteriologie, Mikrobiologie, und Hygiene A 267, 383-394.

Acknowledgments

The present work was carried out at the Department of Bacteriology, National Veterinary Institute. I wish to express sincere thanks to the head at the National Veterinary Institute for making it possible for me to perform the studies. During the years it took to complete my thesis, there are many people I would like to thank for their help, encouragement and support, especially:

my three very professional supervisors who made this thesis possible. I can never thank you enough;

Anders Gunnarsson, my supervisor, co-author and boss, for letting me do this thesis, for fruitful discussions, encouragement and guiding me on the right track.

Anders Franklin, my supervisor and co-author, for guiding me onto the right track in 'antibiotic' matters and antimicrobial susceptibility testing, for encouragement and fruitful discussions;

Karl-Erik "Kaggen" Johansson, my main supervisor, for wise councel in scientific writing, valuable advice, unceasing support and encouragement;

Agneta Gustafsson, co-author and friend, for sharing all in the project. This thesis would not have been without you. Good luck with your thesis!

Märit Karlsson, Anna Aspán, Anna Hellander-Edman, Margareta Horn af Rantzien and Arne Lindholm, my co-authors for interesting and fruitful collaborations;

Gull Holmström for excellent lab work and all the good laughs and advices about horses;

Ulla Zimmerman and Helena Ljung and others that have been involved for helping in the laboratory;

Gunnel Sigstam and Angela Lagerquist-Widh for teaching me about *C. difficile* and for helping with cells;

Merike Ronéus, the head of the Equine Department for your support and all the encouragement through the years;

Agneta Jakobsson, Håkan Pallin and Ulrika Björk in Arbetsgruppen för PersonalUtvecklings- och personalFörsörjningsFrågor, PUFF-gruppen, for continous support and encouragements and fruitful discussions;

everybody at the Department of Bacteriology for providing a good atmosphere to work in and for all interesting discussions and help in various ways; the colleagues and staff at the Department of Antibiotics, National Veterinary Institute and Department of Large Animal Clinical Sciences, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences for always being helpful and friendly;

colleagues and working friends in other projects or groups for fruitful collaborations and interesting discussions;

all nice people at the National Veterinary Institute;

Berndt Green and Jan Skidell, Helsingborgs Djursjukhus for providing samples;

horseowners, Erikssund, Cewe Lindhe, Gurresta, Brantshammar, Västerbo, among others;

colleagues and sample-takers: Sussi Demmers, Kicki Gustafsson-Berger, Christin Knudsen, Elisabeth Hemberg, Karin Bergström, Ingrid Hansson, Cecilia Roepstorff and Ann Albihn;

Agneta Egenvall for professional statistical help;

Gunnel Erne, Agneta Lind and Ulla Ginman for superb library service;

Max Brandt for excellent linguistic revision;

Bengt Ekberg for excellent photo work and scanning of the photographs for this thesis;

Per Wallgren for advice on statistical issues;

all friends for friendship and laughs and shared worries;

my American family for being such good friends through the years;

my family in law, for making me part of your family;

my parents, Elsa and Bengt-Lennart, for supporting me in whatever I do and for helping me during the last months;

My brothers, Stefan and Sören with families, for your support;

Håkan, my husband and very best friend, for your love, encouragement and understanding;

Hedda, Lisen and Herman for being the most wonderful children and the best part of my life;

for financial support from the National Veterinary Institute, ATG (the Swedish Horserace Totalizator Board) and the AGRIA Foundation for Research.

Acta Universitatis Agriculturae Sueciae

presents doctoral theses from the Faculty of Agriculture, Landscape Architecture and Horticulture, the Faculty of Forestry and the Faculty of Veterinary Medicine at the Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences. Each faculty has its own subseries, Agraria, Silvestria and Veterinaria, respectively, with separate numbering.

ISSN 1401-6257 ISBN 91-576-6378-5